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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Certain statements, other than purely historical information, including estimates,
projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives, and expected operating results, and the assumptions
upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking statements generally
are identified by the words “believes,” “project,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “would,”
“will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current
expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements. Our ability to predict results or the actual effect of future plans or
strategies is inherently uncertain. Factors which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and future
prospects on a consolidated basis include but are not limited to: changes in economic conditions, legislative/regulatory
changes, availability of capital, interest rates, competition, and generally accepted accounting principles. These risks
and uncertainties should also be considered in evaluating forward-looking statements and undue reliance should not be
placed on such statements.

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a leading provider of digital health messaging via electronic health records (EHRs), providing a direct channel
for pharmaceutical companies to communicate with healthcare providers and patients. Our cloud-based solution
supports patient adherence to medications by providing real-time access to financial assistance and critical clinical
information. Our network is comprised of leading EHR platforms and provides more than half a million healthcare
providers with access to these benefits within their workflow at the point of care.

2018 Company Highlights

1)Our net revenue increased to a record $21.2 million in 2018, a 75% increase over 2017.
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2)Our net revenue was a record $6.6 million in Q4 2018, up 65% over Q4 2017.

3)
We up-listed to the Nasdaq Capital Market in 2018. In connection with our up-listing, we completed a 1 for 3
reverse-split of our common stock and issued additional gross equity of $9.0 million and received net proceeds of
$8.2 million.

4)We acquired CareSpeak Communications, a leader in interactive health messaging for improved medication
adherence and care coordination in October.

5)We expanded our sales team and established a strong base, which helped drive record revenues for Q3 and Q4 2018
with expected continued revenue growth in 2019 and beyond.

6)We acquired new pharmaceutical manufacturers and brands for our core offerings of Financial and Brand
messaging for distribution through our expanding number of channel partners.

7)We launched our own clinical messaging platform on a pilot basis in Q4 2018 with one channel partner.

8)
An independent analytics firm determined that investment returns from our pharmaceutical promotions with
multiple pharmaceutical brands differentiate our programs as one of the most effective digital tactics available to
pharmaceutical firms.

1
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Pharmaceutical Sales and Marketing Updates

Our sales team continues to expand our business with existing clients and with new clients. We are focused on adding
additional brands for existing clients, providing new solutions, expanding the utilization of our network for existing
brands, and obtaining new clients.

Additionally, we have expanded our service offerings as follows:

●
Brand Messaging – In 2018, we successfully built on the banner messaging platform that we launched in 2017 and
have expanded the partners using the platform. We also developed our own clinical messaging system and launched it
with our first partner in late 2018. We expect both of these to expand in 2019.

●
Brand Support – We have designed a service to better insure that manufacturer brands are available in every
ePrescribing platform available, and we have incorporated this to an overall program related to launch brands that
include brand awareness messaging and financial messaging.

We also have continued to ramp up our marketing efforts as follows:

●Co-hosted a plenary session, “Addressing Medication Adherence to Improve Quality of Care,” at the 12th Annual
Digital Pharma East conference.

●
Presented at multiple investor conferences in 2018, including: Noble Capital Markets’ 13th Annual Investor
Conference, 30th Annual Roth Conference, 7th Annual LD Micro Invitational and Annual LD Micro Main Event,
Roth London conference, Lake Street Investor conference, and B Riley FBR investor conference.

With the growth of both the number of our pharmaceutical clients and brands and our distribution network, we expect
our distribution of messages will continue to increase substantially in 2019.

Operational Update
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In 2019, we plan to expand our existing network and increase physician utilization of our partner networks. We
continue to work individually with our partners to improve point-of-care workflow, increase overall revenue derived
from each channel and increase coupon utilization by providers who have access. We are also focused on increasing
the number of physicians who have access to our service offerings. In addition to revenue growth provided by new
pharma brands and network partners, we believe there is significant revenue growth potential within existing brands
by better utilizing our existing partner networks and expanding our product offerings.

We completed the integration activities related to our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications, Inc and expect
revenues from these patient engagement activities to ramp up substantially in 2019.

Technology Updates

To support our growth, we have migrated our platform to Oracle database software and to further improve the
efficiency of our system, we have moved our software to Amazon Web Services.

We have developed our own proprietary clinical messaging system designed to expand our ability to deliver key
clinical messages in addition to financial support, and we plan to integrate this within EHRs that currently do not offer
this valued product to their providers. We launched this system in 2018 with one channel partner and expect to launch
it with additional partners in 2019.

As a result of our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications, Inc., we now have a 7-person tech team based in Croatia
to help develop further applications throughout the organization.

2
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Principal Products and Applications

Our principal products and applications can be summarized as follows:

●

Financial Messaging – Our integrated financial messaging platform is a revolutionary virtual “Patient Support Center”
that allows doctors and staff to access a universe of sample vouchers, co-pay coupons and other patient support
through their EMR and/or e-Prescribe systems. It allows them to search, print or electronically dispense directly to
patients and a national network of pharmacies. Our platform eliminates the need for physicians to manage and store
physical drug samples by offering a more convenient and efficient way to allocate, administer and track samples and
co-pay savings for their patients. Today, nearly 60% of doctor offices ban or limit drug representatives and the
samples they offer. While samples are still valuable, our solution addresses the fact that many healthcare systems and
doctors are looking for an easier, more effective way to increase affordable access and adherence to their prescribed
branded medications.

●

Brand and Clinical Messaging – Our brand messaging services include a variety of brand awareness and clinical
messaging services that can be tailored to meet the needs of a brand. These messages can include brand awareness
messages, reminder ads, clinical messages and unbranded messages that can be targeted by specialty, diagnostic code
and other criteria. Brand messaging is highly complementary to our core financial messaging product. Historically, we
have sold brand messaging based on specific products offered by our EHR partners, but we have developed our own
proprietary banner messaging system, rolled this product out in 2017, and expanded it in 2018. We also developed our
own clinical messaging system and launched it with our first partner in late 2018. We believe brand messaging
represents a significant growth opportunity for us.

●

Brand Support – Our brand support is focused on educating and working with pharmaceutical manufacturers on
identifying, formulating, and implementing new eRx media strategies for promoting their products. Our services
include: 1) Drug File Integration - a service designed to better insure that manufacturers’ drugs are present in every
ePrescribing platform available; 2) Sales Force Training – a service to educate the extended field sales force on this
new integrated solution and what to look for within their client base to insure maximum exposure of their brands; and
3) Strategy Development – a service that assists pharmaceutical manufacturers in identifying and building a
competitive strategy to take advantage of this new digital frontier. Currently, this activity results in less than 10% of
our revenue, but represents a significant growth opportunity for us.

●

Patient engagement – Our patient engagement activities arose out of our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications in
October 2018. Our technology solution provides digital messaging services through our cloud based Mobile Health
Messenger (“MHM”) Platform. We provide interactive health messaging for improved medication adherence and care
coordination. Our HIPAA-compliant, automated, mobile messaging platform allows pharmaceutical manufactures and
related entities to directly engage with patients to improve regimen compliance.

Marketing and Sales
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We continue to extend our marketing efforts to build both brand and capabilities awareness in the market. As
previously discussed, we continue to actively participate in industry and partner events.

We also continue to focus on the expansion of our strategic partnership with WPP, plc. We plan to continue to
increase our marketing efforts with all of our strategic partners as we continue to promote our platform primarily
through:

●Industry and Partner Events;

●Email Campaigns;

●Internet Marketing;

●Public Relations Campaigns;

●Physician Offices;

●Direct to Consumer Marketing;

●Trade Media Advertising;

●Pharmacy Partners;

●Physician Organizations and Associations; and

●Strategic Relationships.

3
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Competition

Our platform competes in the highly competitive pharmaceutical and healthcare digital marketing industry that is
dominated by large well-known companies with established names, solid market niches, wide arrays of product
offerings and marketing networks. Our financial messaging offerings compete for pharmaceutical budgets with a
variety of other forms of advertising and promotion.

Despite these overall competitors, we do not have major competition in our specific portion of the financial messaging
market. We have a growing list of potential partners whom either have content that they want to deliver through our
distribution engine and network, or have complementary technology and want to integrate our solution as a channel
partner and thereby increase our reach to clinicians. The primary direct competitors in our space of the market are
ConnectiveRx and Aptus Health. However, we believe our breadth of brands offered, extensive list of pharmaceutical
clients, and the vast reach of our network give us a substantial advantage and allow us to achieve a dominant position
in the marketplace.

Intellectual Property

In 2012, we were awarded a patent for our innovative solution (US Patent No. 8,341,015). This award was a result of
our extensive research and development efforts. The awarded claims cover our ability to electronically process,
display and distribute eligible prescription savings on the medications and therapies healthcare providers wish to
prescribe for their patients. As part of our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications, we also acquired (US Patent
No. 7,956,727) related to methods and systems for medication management.

We use a nationally ranked intellectual property law firm to further expand and protect our intellectual property. We
believe our current and expanding IP will allow us to continue being the leader in this rapidly growing space. We
stand ready to prepare additional filings, as necessary, to protect our intellectual property on any forthcoming
solutions that will further assist and support physicians, pharmacists and patients.

OPTIMIZERx, CareSpeak and SampleMD are our licensed trademarks.

Government Regulation
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Fraud and Abuse Laws

Anti-Kickback Statutes

The federal healthcare program Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of
an individual for, or the furnishing, arranging for or recommending a good or service for which payment may be made
in whole or part under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare or Medicaid. The definition of remuneration has
been broadly interpreted to include anything of value, including for example gifts, discounts, the furnishing of
supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, payments of cash and waivers of payments. Several courts have
interpreted the statute’s intent requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration
is to induce referrals or otherwise generate business involving goods or services reimbursed in whole or in part under
federal healthcare programs, the statute has been violated. The law contains a few statutory exceptions, including
payments to bona fide employees, certain discounts and certain payments to group purchasing organizations.
Violations can result in significant penalties, imprisonment and exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal
healthcare programs. Exclusion of a manufacturer would preclude any federal healthcare program from paying for its
products. In addition, kickback arrangements can provide the basis for an action under the Federal False Claims Act,
which is discussed in more detail below. The Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and potentially prohibits many
arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses outside of the healthcare industry. Recognizing that the
Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit many innocuous or beneficial arrangements, the Office of
Inspector General of Health and Human Services, or OIG, issued a series of regulations, known as the safe harbors,
beginning in July 1991. These safe harbors set forth provisions that, if all the applicable requirements are met, will
assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti-Kickback Statute. The
failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or more safe harbors does not necessarily mean that
it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued. However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy
each applicable safe harbor may result in increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities such as the OIG.
Arrangements that implicate the Anti-Kickback Law, and that do not fall within a safe harbor, are analyzed by the
OIG on a case-by-case basis. Government officials have focused recent enforcement efforts on, among other things,
the sales and marketing activities of healthcare companies, and recently have brought cases against individuals or
entities with personnel who allegedly offered unlawful inducements to potential or existing customers in an attempt to
procure their business. Settlements of these cases by healthcare companies have involved significant fines and/or
penalties and in some instances criminal pleas. In addition to the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, many states have
their own kickback laws. Often, these laws closely follow the language of the federal law, although they do not always
have the same exceptions or safe harbors. In some states, these anti-kickback laws apply with respect to all payors,
including commercial health insurance companies.

4
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False Claims Laws

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for
payment to the federal government or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim
paid. Manufacturers can be held liable under false claims laws, even if they do not submit claims to the government, if
they are found to have caused submission of false claims. The Federal Civil False Claims Act also includes whistle
blower provisions that allow private citizens to bring suit against an entity or individual on behalf of the United States
and to recover a portion of any monetary recovery. Many of the recent highly publicized settlements in the healthcare
industry related to sales and marketing practices have been cases brought under the False Claims Act. The majority of
states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal false claims laws, which apply to items and services
reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor. Sanctions
under these federal and state laws may include civil monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufacturer’s products from
reimbursement under government programs, criminal fines and imprisonment.

Privacy and Security

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, and the rules promulgated there under
require certain entities, referred to as covered entities, to comply with established standards, including standards
regarding the privacy and security of protected health information, or PHI. HIPAA further requires that covered
entities enter into agreements meeting certain regulatory requirements with their business associates, as such term is
defined by HIPAA, which, among other things, obligate the business associates to safeguard the covered entity’s PHI
against improper use and disclosure. While not directly regulated by HIPAA, our customers or distributors might face
significant contractual liability pursuant to such an agreement if the business associate breaches the agreement or
causes the covered entity to fail to comply with HIPAA.  It is possible that HIPPA compliance could become a
substantial regulatory burden and expense to our operations, although we do not believe that this will occur as a
general website publisher.

Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we had 37 full-time employees, as well as contracted programmers, as needed, throughout
the year.

Subsidiaries
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We conduct our operations through our wholly-owned subsidiary, OptimizeRx Corporation, a Michigan corporation,
CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey Corporation, and CareSpeak Communications, D.O.O, a controlled
foreign corporation incorporated in Croatia.

Recent developments

In February 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors amended the 2013 Equity Compensation Plan to increase the
number of shares authorized under the plan to 2,500,000. At the same time, the Company granted 50,000 shares of
restricted common stock to officers and options to purchase 67,050 shares of common stock with an exercise price of
$13.06 to non-officers, both of which vest only if the Company achieves certain stretch revenue goals in 2019. In
addition, the Company granted 35,500 time-based options, with the same exercise price, to new employees, and
accelerated vesting to 2019 on 100,000 existing options that previously were scheduled to vest in 2020.

5

Edgar Filing: OptimizeRx Corp - Form 10-K

15



Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Relating to Business and Financial Condition

Because we have historically experienced losses, if we are unable to achieve profitability, our financial condition
and company could suffer.

While we were profitable in 2018, since the inception of our business we have historically incurred losses. While we
have increased revenues significantly, we have not yet been able to achieve consistent profitability due to significant
investments in our growth, and non-cash expenses. Our ability to achieve consistent profitability depends on our
ability to generate sales through our technology platform and advertising model, while maintaining reasonable
expense levels. If we do not achieve sustainable profitability, it may impact our ability to continue our operations.

Our business and growth may suffer if we are unable to attract and retain key employees.

Our success depends on the expertise of our executive officers and certain other key technical personnel. It may be
difficult to find sufficiently qualified individuals to replace management or other key technical personnel in the event
of death, disability or resignation, thus frustrating our ability to implement our business plan, which could negatively
affect our operating results.

Furthermore, our ability to expand operations to accommodate our anticipated growth will also depend on our ability
to attract and retain qualified media, management, finance, marketing, sales and technical personnel. However,
competition for these types of employees is intense due to the limited number of qualified professionals. Our ability to
meet our business development objectives will depend in part on our ability to recruit, train and retain top quality
people with advanced skills who understand our technology and business. If we are unable to engage and retain the
necessary personnel, our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Our failure to obtain, retain or attract additional customers could prevent us from successfully executing our
business plan.
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We currently work with many leading pharmaceutical companies, including Pfizer, Eli Lilly, Merck, AstraZeneca,
Alcon, Novartis, Novo Nordisk, Valeant, Shire, and others. Our failure to retain existing customers or expand with
new customers could negatively impact our business.

We are dependent on a concentrated group of customers.

Our revenues are concentrated in approximately 25 customers, primarily large pharmaceutical manufacturers. Loss of
one or more of our larger customers could have a negative impact on our operating results. In each of 2017 and 2018,
our largest customer in the year accounted for approximately 12% of revenues, although it was a different customer in
each year.

We may be unable to support our technology to further scale our operations successfully.

Our plan is to grow rapidly through further integration of our technology in electronic platforms. Our growth will
place significant demands on our management and technology development, as well as our financial, administrative
and other resources. We cannot guarantee that any of the systems, procedures and controls we put in place will be
adequate to support the commercialization of our operations. Our operating results will depend substantially on the
ability of our officers and key employees to manage changing business conditions and to implement and improve our
financial, administrative and other resources. If we are unable to respond to and manage changing business conditions,
or the scale of our products, services and operations, then the quality of our services, our ability to retain key
personnel and our business could be harmed.

6
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If we are unable to maintain our contracts with electronic prescription platforms, our business will suffer.

We are reliant upon our contracts with leading electronic prescribing platforms, including Allscripts, Dr. First, Quest
Diagnostics, Amazing Charts, and others. Such arrangements subject us to a number of risks, including the following:

●Our contract partners may experience financial, regulatory or operational difficulties, which may impair their ability
to focus on and fulfill their contract obligations to us;

●Legal disputes or disagreements, including the ownership of intellectual property, may occur with one or more of
our partners and may lead to lengthy and expensive litigation or arbitration;

●Significant changes in a partner’s business strategy may adversely affect a partner’s willingness or ability to satisfy
obligations under any such arrangement; and

●A partner could terminate the partnership arrangement, which could negatively impact our ability to sell our products
and achieve revenues.

We will need to maintain these relationships as well as diversify them. The inability to do so could adversely impact
our business.

Our agreements with electronic prescription platforms are subject to audit.

Our agreements with our electronic prescription platform partners provide for revenue sharing payments to the
platform partners based on the revenue we generate through the platform. These payments are subject to audit by our
partners, at their cost, and if there is a dispute as to the calculation, we may be liable for additional payments. If an
underpayment is determined to be in excess of a certain amount, for example 10%, some agreements would require us
to pay for the cost of the audit, as well.

Developing and implementing new and updated applications, features and services for our portals may be more
difficult than expected, may take longer and cost more than expected and may not result in sufficient increases in
revenue to justify the costs.

We have completed the development and migration of our on-demand, rule based content delivery platform.
Attracting and retaining users of our portals requires us to continue to improve the technology underlying those portals
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and to continue to develop new and updated applications, features and services for those portals. If we are unable to do
so on a timely basis or if we are unable to implement new applications, features and services without disruption to our
existing ones, we may lose potential users and clients. The costs of development of these enhancements may
negatively impact our ability to achieve profitability.

We rely on a combination of internal development, strategic relationships, licensing and acquisitions to develop our
portals and related applications, features and services. Our development and/or implementation of new technologies,
applications, features and services may cost more than expected, may take longer than originally expected, may
require more testing than originally anticipated and may require the acquisition of additional personnel and other
resources. There can be no assurance that the revenue opportunities from any new or updated technologies,
applications, features or services will justify the amounts spent.

If we are unable to adhere to the regulatory and competitive climate in which we operate, we could be materially
and negatively impacted.

Do to the labyrinth of regulations in healthcare space, state and federal, as well as political sensitivity of healthcare
delivery, our business model could be negatively impacted or fail.

The markets in which we operate are competitive, continually evolving and, in some cases, subject to rapid change.

●

Our portals face competition from numerous other companies, both in attracting users and in generating revenue from
advertisers and sponsors. We compete for users with online services and websites that provide savings on medications
and healthcare products, including both commercial sites and not-for-profit sites. We compete for advertisers and
sponsors with: health-related web sites; general purpose consumer web sites that offer specialized health
sub-channels; other high-traffic web sites that include both healthcare-related and non-healthcare-related content and
services; search engines that provide specialized health search; and advertising networks that aggregate traffic from
multiple sites.

7
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●
Our healthcare provider portals compete with: providers of healthcare decision-support tools and online health
management applications; wellness and disease management vendors; and health information services and health
management offerings of healthcare benefits companies and their affiliates.

Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other resources than
we do. These organizations may be better known than we are and have more customers or users than we do. We
cannot provide assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against these organizations or any alliances they
have formed or may form. Since there are no substantial barriers to entry into the markets in which our public portals
participate, we expect that competitors will continue to enter these markets.

Developments in the healthcare industry could adversely affect our business.

Most of our revenue is derived from the healthcare industry and could be affected by changes affecting healthcare
spending. We are particularly dependent on pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies for our
advertising and sponsorship revenue.

General reductions in expenditures by healthcare industry participants could result from, among other things:

●
Government regulation or private initiatives that affect the manner in which healthcare providers interact with
patients, payers or other healthcare industry participants, including changes in pricing or means of delivery of
healthcare products and services;

●Government regulation prohibiting the use of coupons by patients covered by federally funded health insurance
programs;

●Consolidation of healthcare industry participants;

●Reductions in governmental funding for healthcare; and

●Adverse changes in business or economic conditions affecting healthcare payers or providers, pharmaceutical,
biotechnology or medical device companies or other healthcare industry participants.

Even if general expenditures by industry participants remain the same or increase, developments in the healthcare
industry may result in reduced spending in some or all of the specific market segments that we serve or are planning to
serve. For example, use of our products and services could be affected by:
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●Changes in the design of health insurance plans;

●A decrease in the number of new drugs or medical devices coming to market;

●
A decrease in marketing expenditures by pharmaceutical or medical device companies, including as a result of
governmental regulation or private initiatives that discourage or prohibit advertising or sponsorship activities by
pharmaceutical or medical device companies; and

●Payor pressure to move to generic brands.

In addition, our customers’ expectations regarding pending or potential industry developments may also affect their
budgeting processes and spending plans with respect to products and services of the types we provide.

The healthcare industry has changed significantly in recent years and we expect that significant changes will continue
to occur. However, the timing and impact of developments in the healthcare industry are difficult to predict. We
cannot assure you that the markets for our products and services will continue to exist at current levels or that we will
have adequate technical, financial and marketing resources to react to changes in those markets.

8
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Our success is dependent in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our proprietary rights and our ability to
avoid infringing on the proprietary rights of others.

We seek patent protection for those inventions and technologies for which we believe such protection is suitable and
is likely to provide a competitive advantage to us. Because patent applications in the United States are maintained in
secrecy until either the patent application is published or a patent is issued, we may not be aware of third-party
patents, patent applications and other intellectual property relevant to our products that may block our use of our
intellectual property or may be used in third-party products that compete with our products and processes. In the event
a competitor or other party successfully challenges our products, processes, patents or licenses or claims that we have
infringed upon their intellectual property, we could incur substantial litigation costs defending against such claims, be
required to pay royalties, license fees or other damages or be barred from using the intellectual property at issue, any
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We also rely substantially on trade secrets, proprietary technology, nondisclosure and other contractual agreements,
and technical measures to protect our technology, application, design, and manufacturing know-how, and work
actively to foster continuing technological innovation to maintain and protect our competitive position. We cannot
assure you that steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property and other contractual agreements for our business
will be adequate, that our competitors will not independently develop or patent substantially equivalent or superior
technologies or be able to design around patents that we may receive, or that our intellectual property will not be
misappropriated.

Our business will suffer if our network systems fail or become unavailable.

A reduction in the performance, reliability and availability of our network infrastructure would harm our ability to
distribute our products to our users, as well as our reputation and ability to attract and retain customers. Our systems
and operations could be damaged or interrupted by fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, Internet
breakdown, earthquake and similar events. Our systems could also be subject to viruses, break-ins, sabotage, acts of
terrorism, acts of vandalism, hacking, cyber-terrorism and similar misconduct. We might not carry adequate business
interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur from a system outage. Any system error or failure
that causes interruption in availability of our product or an increase in response time could result in a loss of potential
customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If
we suffer sustained or repeated interruptions, then our products and services could be less attractive to our users and
our business would be materially harmed.

If we are unable to manage growth, our operations could be adversely affected.
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Our progress is expected to require the full utilization of our management, financial and other resources. Our ability to
manage growth effectively will depend on our ability to improve and expand operations, including our financial and
management information systems, and to recruit, train and manage personnel. There can be no absolute assurance that
management will be able to manage growth effectively.

If we do not properly manage the growth of our business, we may experience significant strains on our management
and operations and disruptions in our business. Various risks arise when companies and industries grow quickly. If our
business or industry grows too quickly, our ability to meet customer demand in a timely and efficient manner could be
challenged. We may also experience development delays as we seek to meet increased demand for our products. Our
failure to properly manage the growth that we or our industry might experience could negatively impact our ability to
execute on our operating plan and, accordingly, could have an adverse impact on our business, our cash flow and
results of operations, and our reputation with our current or potential customers.

Our business is subject to changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure.

Because our common stock is publicly traded, we are subject to certain rules and regulations of federal and state
entities charged with the protection of investors and the oversight of companies whose securities are publicly traded.
These entities have continued to develop additional regulations and requirements in response to laws enacted by
Congress, most notably the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Complying with these new regulations has resulted in, and is
likely to continue to result in, increased general & administrative costs and a diversion of management time and
attention from revenue generating and other business activities to compliance activities.

9
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Risks Relating to Our Securities

If a market for our common stock does not develop, shareholders may be unable to sell their shares.

Our common stock is quoted under the symbol “OPRX” on the Nasdaq Capital Markets. We do not currently have a
consistent active trading market. There can be no assurance that a consistent active and liquid trading market will
develop or, if developed, that it will be sustained.

Our securities are thinly traded. Accordingly, it may be difficult to sell shares of our common stock without
significantly depressing the value of the stock. Unless we are successful in developing continued investor interest in
our stock, sales of our stock could continue to result in major fluctuations in the price of the stock.

The market price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could fluctuate widely in price in response
to various factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Our stock price is subject to a number of factors, including:

●Technological innovations or new products and services by us or our competitors;

●Government regulation of our products and services;

●The establishment of partnerships with other healthcare companies;

●Intellectual property disputes;

●Additions or departures of key personnel;

●Sales of our common stock;

●Our ability to integrate operations, technology, products and services;

●Our ability to execute our business plan;

●Operating results below or exceeding expectations;
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●Whether we achieve profits or not;

●Loss or addition of any strategic relationship;

●Industry developments;

●Economic and other external factors; and

●Period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.

Our stock price may fluctuate widely as a result of any of the above. In addition, the securities markets have from time
to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.

We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Any return on investment may be limited to the value
of our common stock.

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of dividends
on our common stock will depend on earnings, financial condition and other business and economic factors affecting
it at such time as the board of directors may consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, our common stock may be
less valuable because a return on your investment will occur only if our stock price appreciates.

10
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Provisions in the Nevada Revised Statutes and our Bylaws could make it very difficult for an investor to bring any
legal actions against our directors or officers for violations of their fiduciary duties or could require us to pay any
amounts incurred by our directors or officers in any such actions.

Members of our board of directors and our officers will have no liability for breaches of their fiduciary duty of care as
a director or officer, except in limited circumstances, pursuant to provisions in the Nevada Revised Statutes and our
Bylaws as authorized by the Nevada Revised Statutes. Specifically, Section 78.138 of the Nevada Revised Statutes
provides that a director or officer is not individually liable to the company or its shareholders or creditors for any
damages as a result of any act or failure to act in his or her capacity as a director or officer unless it is proven that (1)
the director’s or officer’s act or failure to act constituted a breach of his or her fiduciary duties as a director or officer
and (2) his or her breach of those duties involved intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law. This
provision is intended to afford directors and officers protection against and to limit their potential liability for
monetary damages resulting from suits alleging a breach of the duty of care by a director or officer. Accordingly, you
may be unable to prevail in a legal action against our directors or officers even if they have breached their fiduciary
duty of care. In addition, our Bylaws allow us to indemnify our directors and officers from and against any and all
costs, charges and expenses resulting from their acting in such capacities with us. This means that if you were able to
enforce an action against our directors or officers, in all likelihood, we would be required to pay any expenses they
incurred in defending the lawsuit and any judgment or settlement they otherwise would be required to pay.
Accordingly, our indemnification obligations could divert needed financial resources and may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and adversely affect prevailing market prices for
our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff comments

None

Item 2. Properties

Currently, we do not own any real estate. Our principal executive offices are located at 400 Water Street, Suite 200,
Rochester, Michigan 48307.  

We initially signed the lease for our current office space on December 1, 2011. That lease expired on November 30,
2016 and we signed a new lease covering the same space. The new lease is a three-year lease beginning December 1,
2016, with options for up to an additional 6 years. The rent is payable monthly at rates of $6,232, $6,308, and $6,384
per month for years 1, 2, and 3 of the lease, respectively. The monthly rates for the option years range from $6,384 per
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month to $6,688 per month for the option years 4 through 9 of the lease. If we fail to exercise our option for option
years 4 and 5, a lease termination payment of $7,300 will be due at the end of the initial 3-year term.

We have a short-term lease on shared office space in Somerset, New Jersey expiring March 31, 2019. The lease is a
twelve-month lease calling for twelve monthly payments of approximately $700.

The Company also has a short-term lease on an office space in Zagreb, Croatia expiring July 4, 2019. The lease is a
twelve-month lease calling for twelve monthly payments of 550 €, or approximately $630 USD.

We also have a month to month lease on shared office space in Nashville Tennessee, with monthly lease payments of
approximately $2,050.

We believe that our properties are adequate for our current needs, but growth potential may require larger facilities
due to anticipated addition of personnel. We do not have any policies regarding investments in real estate, securities or
other forms of property. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We have no current legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

11
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is traded under the symbol “OPRX” on the Nasdaq Capital Market. Only a limited market exists for
our securities. There is no assurance that a regular trading market will develop, or if developed, that it will be
sustained. Therefore, a shareholder may be unable to resell his securities in our company.

The following tables set forth the range of high and low bid information for our common stock for the each of the
periods indicated. These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2017

Quarter Ended High $ Low $
March 31, 2017 2.55 2.67
June 30, 2017 3.30 1.89
September 30, 2017 3.90 2.76
December 31, 2017 3.42 2.13

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2018

Quarter Ended High $ Low $
March 31, 2018 4.98 3.36
June 30, 2018 11.00 4.29
September 30, 2018 18.39 9.32
December 31, 2018 18.00 8.92
Quarter Ended March 31, 2019
(through March 7, 2019) $15.10 $9.96

On March 7, 2019, the last sales price per share of our common stock was $14.70
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Holders of Our Common Stock

As of March 7, 2019, we had 12,095,111 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, held by approximately
320 shareholders of record at our transfer agent, with approximately 1,200 additional shareholders holding our shares
in street name.

Dividends

We currently intend to retain future earnings for the operation of our business. We have never declared or paid cash
dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

In the event that a dividend is declared, common stockholders on the record date are entitled to share ratably in any
dividends that may be declared from time to time on the common stock by our board of directors from funds legally
available.

There are no restrictions in our articles of incorporation or bylaws that restrict us from declaring dividends. The
Nevada Revised Statutes, however, do prohibit us from declaring dividends where, after giving effect to the
distribution of the dividend:

1.We would not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business; or

2.Our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities, plus the amount that would be needed to satisfy
the rights of shareholders who have preferential rights superior to those receiving the distribution.

12
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Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

On June 13, 2013, our Board of Directors adopted the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The purpose of the Plan
is to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility with us, to provide
additional incentive to employees, directors and consultants, and to promote our success. Under the initial Plan, we
were able to issue up to an aggregate total of 1,500,000 incentive or non-qualified options to purchase our common
stock, stock awards and other offerings under the Plan. In March 2016, the Board expanded the number of shares
issuable under the Plan to 4,000,000 and in February 2018, the Board increased the number of shares issuable to
5,500,000 shares. In May, 2018, we completed a 1 for 3 reverse split of our stock in connection with our listing on the
Nasdaq Capital Market, which reduced the shares authorized under the plan to 1,833,334. In February 2019, the Board
expanded the number of shares issuable under the Plan to 2,500,000 shares.

Equity Compensation Plans as of December 31, 2018

Equity Compensation
Plans Not Approved by
the Shareholders

Number
of Securities
to
be issued
upon
exercise
of
outstanding
options

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options

Number of
Securities
remaining
available
for future
issuance
under
equity
compensation
plans

(a) (b) (c)
2013 Equity
Compensation Plan 1,554,700 $ 4.63 (1)

Other Equity Compensation
(restricted stock awards) 130,000 N/A N/A

Total 1,684,700 $ 4.63 (1)

(1)We had no remaining shares available to grant under the Plan at December 31, 2018. In February 2019, we
increased our available shares under the Plan to 2,500,000 shares.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
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The information set forth below relates to our issuances of securities without registration under the Securities Act of
1933 during the reporting period which were not previously included in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Current
Report on Form 8-K.

In December 2018, we issued 10,420 shares of restricted common stock to our outside Directors as part of our director
compensation package for services rendered in Q4 2018.

In October 2018, we issued 5,000 shares to our investor relations firm for services. We also issued 30,638 shares of
common stock in October 2018 in connection with our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications, Inc. to former
shareholders of CareSpeak.

From October through December 2018, we issued 21,764 shares and received proceeds of $65,327 in connection with
the exercise of options.

In 2019, the company issued 56,493 shares and received proceeds of $228,386 in connection with the exercise of
options.

In February 2019, we granted restricted stock awards for 50,000 shares of common stock to executive officers and
options to purchase 67,050 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $13.06 to non-officers, both of which
vest only if we achieve certain stretch revenue goals in 2019. In addition, we granted 35,000 time-based options with
the same exercise price in February 2019 as well.

These securities were issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 promulgated thereunder.
The holders represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view towards
distribution. The investors were given adequate information about us to make an informed investment decision. We
did not engage in any general solicitation or advertising. We directed our transfer agent to issue the stock certificates
with the appropriate restrictive legend affixed to the restricted stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not required under Regulation S-K for “smaller reporting companies.”
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Net Revenue

Our net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 was approximately $21.2 million, an increase of 75% from the
year ended December 31, 2017. This increase resulted from increased pharmaceutical brands, an increased distribution
network, and strong growth in our brand messaging product. We expect continued strong revenue growth in 2019 as a
result of the foundations laid in 2017 and 2018.

Because the pharmaceutical industry is dominated by large companies with multiple brands, our revenue is
concentrated in a relatively small number of companies. We have approximately 25 pharmaceutical companies as
customers. We have focused our efforts on expanding both our customer base and our product offerings and are
becoming less dependent on any one customer. In each of 2018 and 2017, our largest customer only accounted for
approximately 12% of sales, and that was a different customer each year.

Cost of Sales

Our total cost of sales, composed primarily of revenue share expense, increased in the year ended December 31, 2018,
from the year ended December 31, 2017 due to the increase in revenues. Our revenue share expense as a percentage of
revenue, however, decreased from approximately 51% in the year ended December 31, 2017 to approximately 42% in
the year ended December 31, 2018.

This decrease in revenue share expense as a percentage of revenue resulted primarily from product mix, and
specifically from the substantial increase in our brand messaging revenue that had a substantial fixed cost component
to it in 2017 and 2018. We expect revenue share expense as a percentage of revenue in 2019 to increase from 2018
levels as a result of a shift back to more historical product mix levels.

Gross Margin
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Our gross margin, which is simply the difference between our revenues and our cost of sales, discussed above,
increased substantially from 2017 to 2018 as a result of the increased revenue. In addition, our gross margin
percentage increased from approximately 49% in 2017 to 58% in 2018 for the reasons discussed above in the cost of
sales section. We expect our margins to decline slightly in 2019, but are focused on maintaining our margins, at least
at 55%, in 2019.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased to approximately $12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, from
approximately $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase of approximately 49%. The detail by
major category is reflected in the table below.

Years Ended December
31
2018 2017

Salaries, Wages and Benefits $5,823,057 $4,151,740
Professional Fees 362,678 324,117
Acquisition related costs 607,670 -
Board Compensation 144,125 89,000
Investor Relations 113,059 126,548
Consultants 167,694 356,220
Advertising and Promotion 299,955 207,062
Depreciation and Amortization 316,502 324,551
Development and Maintenance 675,660 642,304
Integration Incentives 132,500 366,717
Office, Facility and Other 472,250 297,700
Travel 390,563 294,426

   Subtotal 9,505,713 7,180,385

Stock-based compensation 2,520,852 902,389

Total Operating Expense $12,026,565 $8,082,774
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The main reasons for the overall increase in operating expenses in 2018 was our focus on staffing and scaling our
company to focus on, and be able to support, accelerated revenue growth.

Within the operating expenses, there were a variety of increases, the largest of which was in salaries, wages and
benefits, as a result of additional staff added in 2017 and 2018, including related benefits. During 2018, we added to
our staff in several key areas, including a head of data analytics, an additional VP of Sales, and a Controller. We also
added 10 employees late in the year as a result of our CareSpeak acquisition. During 2017, we hired a president and
two new vice presidents of sales, as well as additional supporting positions, which also resulted in an increase in 2018
because of the full year impact of those positions that were only partially included in 2017. Incentive compensation
also increased in 2018, primarily as a result of the increase in revenues. We expect our compensation expense to
increase in 2019, but at a much lower rate than in 2018.

Professional fees increased primarily because of costs associated with our up-listing to Nasdaq and the completion of
the Secondary offering related to the sale of WPP shares, as well as implementation of our Sarbanes Oxley testing.

Acquisition costs are related to our acquisition of CareSpeak Communications in October 2018. These costs include
investment banker fees, legal and accounting due diligence, audit costs associated with CareSpeak, valuation experts
for the purchase price allocation, and other miscellaneous costs.

Board compensation increased from 2017 to 2018 due to both the increase in our Board from five directors to six
directors, and the establishment of an audit committee.

The cost of consultants decreased significantly from 2017 to 2018. The 2017 costs included approximately $105,000
in consulting costs paid to our prior CEO as part of his exit from the Company. In addition, there were approximately
$120,000 in consulting costs paid to consultants that were ultimately hired as employees, or employees were hired to
assume the work the contractors were used for.

Expenses related to development, management, and maintenance of our technology increased slightly in 2018 as a
result of improvements to our system, as well as costs associated with migrating our technology to Amazon Web
Services. These costs were partially offset by the savings resulting from the move. We expect these costs to decrease
significantly in 2019 due to the investments made in 2018.
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Integration incentives are fees we pay to accelerate access to new partners. These fees decreased significantly from
2017 to 2018. We integrated a significant new partner in 2017 that resulted in approximately $180,000 of integration
costs, but had no such new partner in 2018. We expect 2019 integration costs to be closer to the 2018 amount.

Depreciation and amortization decreased slightly in 2018 from the 2017 levels. The increased amortization resulting
from the acquisition of CareSpeak and the resulting intangible assets was offset by other items which became fully
depreciated or amortized in 2017 and 2018. We expect depreciation and amortization expense in 2019 to exceed
$650,000.

Office, facility, and other costs increased from 2017 to 2018. The main reason for the change related to hiring
expenses, including approximately $120,000 in recruiting fees related to new hires. The balance of the increase related
to increased levels of activity, including our acquisition of CareSpeak.

Stock based compensation increased by approximately $1.6 million from 2017 to 2018 for several reasons, including
the significant increase in our stock price. Stock based compensation for the Board of Directors increased from
approximately $90,000 to approximately $430,000. The Board grant is based on a specific number shares each quarter
and while the number of independent Directors eligible to receive shares increased from three to four, the majority of
the increase related to the increase in stock price. In addition, the Company accelerated vesting on a portion of the
options held by its CEO, which resulted in additional expense of approximately $180,000. The Company also granted
performance based options and restricted stock awards valued at approximately $750,000 that will vest only if certain
stretch revenue goals are achieved. Those goals were achieved so the awards vested and the expense was recorded in
2018.

Net Loss

We finished the year ended December 31, 2018 with a profit of approximately $226,000, as compared to a loss of
approximately $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. The reasons for specific components are
discussed above. Overall, we had an increase in revenue and gross margin partially offset by increased operating
expenses to support future growth. In addition, the income or loss in both periods included significant noncash items.
We had approximately $2.85 million in noncash expense in 2018 and approximately $1.25 million in noncash expense
in 2017.
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Quarterly Financial Information

Following is a table of our quarterly operating results for 2018 for information purposes.

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter Total Year

Revenues $4,112,237 $5,099,474 $5,415,384 $6,579,268 $21,206,363

Revenue Share Expense 2,008,092 2,236,751 2,268,968 2,485,855 8,999,666

Gross Profit 2,104,145 2,862,723 3,146,416 4,093,413 12,206,697

Operating Expenses 2,295,341 2,589,126 2,923,238 4,218,860 12,026,565

Income (Loss) from Operations (191,196 ) 273,597 223,178 (125,447 ) 180,132

Other income 2,017 6,912 21,750 15,533 46,212

Loss before Taxes (189,179 ) 280,509 244,928 (109,914 ) 226,344

Provision for Taxes - - - - -

Net Income (Loss) (189,179 ) 280,509 244,928 (109,914 ) 226,344

Loss per share
Basic $(0.02 ) $0.03 $0.02 $(0.01 ) $0.02
Diluted $(0.02 ) $0.02 $0.02 $(0.01 ) $0.02
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2018, we had total current assets of approximately $16.0 million, compared with current
liabilities of approximately $4.2 million, resulting in working capital of approximately $11.8 million and a current
ratio of approximately 3.8 to 1. This compares with the working capital balance of approximately $5.3 million and the
current ratio of 2.5 to 1 at December 31, 2017. This increase in working capital, as discussed in more detail below, is
primarily the result of the capital we raised in connection with our up-listing to Nasdaq.

Following is a table with summary data from the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2018 and 2017, as presented.

2018 2017
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $792,555 $(1,479,831)
Net cash used in investing activities (5,686,833) (42,243 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 8,685,739 (390,000 )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $3,791,461 $(1,912,074)

Our operating activities provided approximately $800,000 in the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared with
approximately $1.5 million used in operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2017. The cash provided in
2018 was the result of our net income and non-cash expenses, partially offset by the increased working capital
required to support higher revenues. The cash used in operations in 2017 was the result of both increased levels of
working capital required to support higher revenue levels as well as a change in the contractual relationship related to
certain partners resulting in a reduction of revenue share payable at December 31, 2017.

We used approximately $5.7 million in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2018, as compared with
approximately $50,000 used in investment activities in the year ended December 31, 2017. The majority of the
investing activities in 2018 related to our acquisition of CareSpeak communications in October 2018.

Financing activities provided $8.7 million in the year ended December 31. 2018, as compared with cash used of
$390,000 in 2017. The cash provided in 2018 was primarily the result of the equity raised in connection with our
up-listing to Nasdaq, as well as from the proceeds of option exercises. The cash used in 2017 was the result of the
redemption of shares of common stock held by our previous CEO.
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With our cash on hand, we have sufficient cash to operate our business for more than the next 12 months and we do
not anticipate the need to raise additional equity for operating purposes.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2018, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies

A “critical accounting policy” is one which is both important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition and
results, and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to
make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Our accounting policies are discussed in detail in the footnotes to our financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018; however, we consider our critical accounting policies to
be those related to determining the amount of revenue to be billed, the timing of revenue recognition, calculation of
revenue share expense, stock-based compensation, capitalization and related amortization of intangible assets and
impairment of assets. Following is a summary of those policies.
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Revenue Recognition

Recognition of revenue requires evidence of a contact, probable collection of proceeds, and completion of
substantially all performance obligations. We use a 5-step model to recognize revenue. These steps are: identify the
performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract, and recognize revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenues are primarily generated from content delivery activities in which the Company delivers financial clinical, or
brand messaging through a distribution network of ePrescribers and Electronic Health Record technology providers
(channel partners), directly to consumers, or from reselling services that complement the business. Unless otherwise
specified, revenue is recognized based on the gross selling price to customers.

The Company’s contracts are generally all less than one year and the primary performance obligation is delivery of the
message, but the contract may contain additional performance obligations. Additional performance obligations may
include program design and set up, and reporting.

As the messaging is distributed through the platform and network of channel partners (a transaction), these
transactions are recorded, and revenue is recognized, at the time of distribution. Revenue for transactions can be
realized based on a price per message, a price per redemption, or as a flat fee occurring over a period of time,
depending on the client contract. The Company recognizes setup fees that are required for integrating client offerings
and campaigns into the rule-based content delivery system and network over the life of the initial program, based
either on time, or units delivered, depending upon which is most appropriate in the specific situation. Additionally, the
Company also recognizes revenue for providing program performance reporting and maintenance, either by the
Company directly delivering reports or by providing access to its online reporting portal that the client can utilize.
These fees are charged monthly and recognized as recurring monthly revenue at the time of delivery.

In some instances, the Company also resells products and or services that are available through channel partners on a
commission basis, and that are complementary to the core business and client base. In these instances, net revenue is
recognized based on the commission based revenue split that the Company receives. In instances where the Company
resells services and have all financial risk and significant operation input and risk, the Company records the revenue
gross.

Revenue Share Expense
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Based on the volume of transactions that are delivered through the channel partner network, the Company provides a
revenue share to compensate the partner for their promotion of the campaign. Revenue shares are a negotiated
percentage of the transaction fees and can also be specific to special considerations and campaigns. In addition, the
Company pays revenue share to ConnectiveRx (formerly LDM/PDR) as a result of a 2014 legal settlement in an
amount equal to the greater of 10% of financial messaging distribution revenues generated through its integrated
network, or $0.37 per financial message distributed through its integrated network. The contractual amount due to the
channel partners is recorded as an expense at the time the eCoupon is distributed.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost. Finite-lived assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of fifteen to
seventeen years for patents, eight years for customer relationships, four years for covenants not to compete, and three
to four years for software and websites, all using the straight-line method. These assets, as well as our indefinite-lived
asset, are evaluated annually in our fiscal fourth quarter for impairment.

Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment during our fiscal fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change.
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Share-based Payments

The Company uses the fair value method to account for stock-based compensation. The fair value of the equity
instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional paid-in capital over the period during which
services are rendered. The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of each grant. For restricted stock, the fair
market value is based on the market value of the stock granted on the date of the grant. For options, it is estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. Estimated
volatilities are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock over the same period as the expected term of
the options. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding. The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise behavior and to determine this term. The
risk free rate used is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant using a time period equal
to the expected option term. The Company has never paid dividends and does not expect to pay any dividends in the
future.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model and other existing models were developed for use in estimating the fair
value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. These option valuation models
require the input of, and are highly sensitive to, subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
The Company’s stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in
the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new accounting standard ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and
all of the related amendments (“new revenue standard”). We recorded the change, which was immaterial, related to
adopting the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective method. Under this method, we recognized the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings. This results in no restatement of prior periods, which continue to be reported under the accounting standards
in effect for those periods. We expect the impact of the adoption of the new revenue standard to continue to be
immaterial on an ongoing basis.

We have applied the new revenue standard to all contracts as of the date of initial application. The overwhelming
majority of our revenue continues to be recognized when transactions occur, such as the delivery of a message. We
previously recognized revenue related to set-ups when a program launched, and all related activities had been
accomplished. Under the new revenue standard, we are recognizing revenue related to these set ups over the term of
the initial contract. Since set up fees are generally small relative to the size of the overall contract and because most
contracts are for a year or less, the impact of this change is immaterial.
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The impact of recording this change as of January 1, 2018 resulted in an increase in deferred revenue of $142,027 at
that date and a corresponding decrease in retained earnings as well. The impact of adopting the new revenue standard
in 2018 resulted in lower revenues of $59,387 than would have been reported under the previous method.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASC 2016-16 amending the accounting for income taxes, primarily related to
intercompany transfers of inventory. We adopted this in 2018 and it had no impact on our financial statements or
disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which modifies lease
accounting for lessees to increase transparency and comparability by recording lease assets and liabilities for operating
leases and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 in its first
quarter of 2019. While the Company is currently evaluating the timing and impact of adopting ASU 2016-02,
currently the Company anticipates no material impact to its Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, the
ultimate impact of adopting ASU 2016-02 will depend on the Company’s lease portfolio as of the adoption date.

We do not expect the adoption of these or other recently issued accounting pronouncements to have a significant
impact on our results of operation, financial position or cash flow.

20
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Financial Statements Required by Article 8 of Regulation S-X:

Audited Financial Statements:

F-1Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm;
F-4Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017;
F-5Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017;
F-6Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended December 31, 2017;
F-7Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the year ended December 31, 2018;
F-8Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017; and
F-9Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of OptimizeRx Corporation:

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OptimizeRx Corporation (“the Company”) as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2018, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated December 31, 2018, expressed an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
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material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Salt Lake City, UT

March 12, 2019

F-1
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of OptimizeRx Corporation:

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited OptimizeRx Corporation’s (the Company’s) internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material
weakness described in the following paragraph on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the
Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”), and
our report dated March 12, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been
identified and included in management’s assessment:

●

There was ineffective segregation of duties assignments, and ineffective information technology general controls
(ITGCs) in the areas of user access and change-management over a certain information technology (IT) system, used
in the Company’s financial reporting processes. As a result, business process automated and manual controls that are
dependent on appropriate segregation of duties and are dependent on the affected ITGCs were ineffective because
they could have been adversely impacted.

●
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There were ineffective controls related to revenue including ineffective controls over the review and approval of a key
revenue calculation spreadsheet and ineffective controls over the accuracy and completeness of activity data produced
by the Issuer’s proprietary IT system related to user actions in an electronic environment. These deficiencies were a
result of a design deficiency in the review and approval process and IT control processes lacking sufficient
documentation.

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our
audit of the 2018 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report on those consolidated
financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that material weaknesses exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Salt Lake City, UT

March 12, 2019
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of

December 31, 2018 and 2017

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $8,914,034 $5,122,573
Accounts receivable 6,457,841 3,430,890
Prepaid expenses 590,744 255,428
Total Current Assets 15,962,619 8,808,891
Property and equipment, net 149,330 167,305
Other Assets
Goodwill 3,678,513 -
Patent rights, net 2,766,944 638,766
Other intangible assets, net 2,492,123 143,730
Security deposit 5,049 5,049
Total Other Assets 8,942,629 787,545
TOTAL ASSETS $25,054,578 $9,763,741

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable – trade $411,010 $457,289
Accrued expenses 1,300,882 953,947
Revenue share payable 1,908,616 1,624,806
Deferred revenue 610,625 507,160
Total Current Liabilities 4,231,133 3,543,202
Non-current Liabilities
Contingent purchase price payable 2,365,000 -
Total Liabilities 6,596,133 3,543,202
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, no issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, - -

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized, 12,038,618 and
9,772,694 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 12,039 9,773

Stock warrants - 1,286,424
Additional paid-in-capital 48,725,211 35,287,464
Accumulated deficit (30,278,805 ) (30,363,122 )
Total Stockholders’ Equity 18,458,445 6,220,539
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TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $25,054,578 $9,763,741

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years

Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

For the
year ended
December 31,
2018

For the
year ended
December 31,
2017

Revenue $ 21,206,363 $ 12,127,422
Revenue share expense 8,999,666 6,174,614
Gross Margin 12,206,697 5,952,808

Operating expenses
Stock-based compensation 2,520,852 902,389
Depreciation and amortization 316,502 324,551
Other general and administrative expenses 9,189,211 6,855,834
Total operating expenses 12,026,565 8,082,774
Income (loss) from operations 180,132 (2,129,966 )
Other income
Interest income 46,212 25,937
Total other income 46,212 25,937
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 226,344 (2,104,029 )
Provision for income taxes - -
Net income (loss) $ 226,344 $ (2,104,029 )
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic 10,832,209 9,819,753
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - diluted 11,862,991 9,819,753
Net income (loss) per share – basic $ 0.02 $ (0.21 )
Net income (loss) per share - diluted $ 0.02 $ (0.21 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Year

Ended December 31, 2017

Preferred
Stock
Shares

Preferred
Stock 
Amount

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock 
Amount

Stock
Warrants

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Balance,
December 31, 2016 - $ - 9,906,289 $ 9,906 $2,294,416 $33,766,950 $(28,259,093) $7,812,179

Issuance of stock
options to
employees

815,014 815,014

Issuance of
common stock:
for services 25,000 25 87,350 87,375
for cash
for options 8,071 8 (8 ) -
Shares redeemed
for cash (166,666 ) (166 ) (389,834 ) (390,000 )

Expiration of
Warrants (1,007,992) 1,007,992 -

Net loss for the
year (2,104,029 ) (2,104,029 )

Balance,
December 31, 2017 - $ - 9,772,694 $ 9,773 $1,286,424 $35,287,464 $(30,363,122) $6,220,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Year

Ended December 31, 2018

Preferred
Stock
Shares

Preferred
Stock 
Amount

Common
Stock
Shares

Common
Stock 
Amount

Stock
Warrants

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Balance,
December 31, 2017 - $ - 9,772,694 $9,773 $1,286,424 $35,287,464 $(30,363,122) $6,220,539

Cumulative effect
of change in
accounting
principle related to
revenue recognition

(142,027 ) (142,027 )

Stock
Compensation
Expense

1,863,911 1,863,911

Issuance of
common stock:
for services 51,494 51 656,883 656,934
for cash 1,666,669 1,667 8,162,807 8,164,474
for options
exercised 165,169 165 521,105 521,270

for warrants
exercised 251,046 251 (1,286,424) 1,286,173 -

Shares issued for
acquisition 30,638 31 499,969 500,000

Shares issued in
payment of revenue
share

100,000 100 446,900 447,000

Additional shares
issued in
connection with
reverse split due to
rounding

908 1 (1 ) -

Net income for the
year 226,344 226,344

Balance,
December 31, 2018 - $ - 12,038,618 $12,039 $- $48,725,211 $(30,278,805) $18,458,445

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years

Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

For the
year ended
December 31,
2018

For the
year ended
December 31,
2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) for the period $ 226,344 $ (2,104,029 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 316,502 324,551
Loss on disposal of assets 2,401 65,738
Stock issued for services 656,934 815,014
Stock-based compensation 1,863,911 87,375
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (2,789,252 ) (370,494 )
Prepaid expenses (319,754 ) (174,608 )
Accounts payable (83,319 ) 88,075
Revenue share payable 730,810 (997,711 )
Accrued expenses 226,535 665,679
Deferred revenue (38,557 ) 120,579
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 792,555 (1,479,831 )
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment (34,362 ) (42,243 )
Acquisition of intangible assets (56,651 ) -
Cash paid in acquisition, net of cash acquired (5,595,820 ) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (5,686,833 ) (42,243 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 8,164,475 -
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 521,264 -
Redemption of common stock - (390,000 )
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 8,685,739 (390,000 )
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,791,461 (1,912,074 )
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – BEGINNING OF PERIOD 5,122,573 7,034,647
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – END OF PERIOD $ 8,914,034 $ 5,122,573
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ - $ -
Cash paid for income taxes $ - $ -
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: -
Exercise of stock warrants $ 1,286,424 $ -
Common stock issued for debt $ 477,000 $ -
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Shares issued in acquisition of CareSpeak $ 500,000 $ -
Effect of ASC 606 revenue recognition $ 142,027 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

OptimizeRx Corporation is a leading provider of digital health messaging via electronic health records (EHRs),
providing a direct channel for pharmaceutical companies to communicate with healthcare providers. The Company’s
cloud-based solution supports patient adherence to medications by providing real-time access to financial assistance,
prior authorization, education and critical clinical information. The Company’s network is comprised of leading EHR
platforms and provides more than half of the ambulatory patient market with access to these benefits within their
workflow at the point-of-care.

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America and are presented in US dollars. The Company has adopted a December
31st fiscal year-end.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and
assumptions have been made in determining the carrying value of assets, depreciable and amortizable lives of tangible
and intangible assets, the carrying value of liabilities, the amount of revenue to be billed, and the timing of revenue
recognition and related revenue share expenses. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Principles of Consolidation
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The financial statements reflect the consolidated results of OptimizeRx Corporation, a Nevada corporation, and its
wholly owned subsidiaries, OptimizeRx Corporation, a Michigan Corporation, CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a
New Jersey Corporation, and CareSpeak Communications D.O.O. a Controlled Foreign Corporation incorporated in
Croatia. Together, these companies are referred to as “OptimizeRx” and “the Company”. All material intercompany
transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications

Certain items in the previous year financial statements have been reclassified to match the current year presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the accompanying financial statements, the Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an
initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in the principal or most advantageous
market for that asset or liability. The fair value should be calculated based on assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability, not on assumptions specific to the entity. In addition, the fair value of
liabilities should include consideration of non-performance risk including our own credit risk.

F-9

Edgar Filing: OptimizeRx Corp - Form 10-K

58



OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In addition to defining fair value, the disclosure requirements around fair value establish a fair value hierarchy for
valuation inputs, which is expanded. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three levels based on the extent to which
inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Each fair value measurement is reported in one of the
three levels, which is determined by the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its
entirety. These levels are:

Level 1 – Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

 Level 2 – Inputs are based upon significant observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques
for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 – Inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are therefore determined using model-based
techniques that include option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques. The Company’s
stock options and warrants are valued using level 3 inputs.

The following tables present the fair values and carrying values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the valuation techniques used by the Company
to determine those fair values.

2018
Level
1

Level
2 Level 3 Fair Value Carrying

Value
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Liabilities
Contingent Purchase Price Payable (1) $- $ - $2,365,000 $2,365,000 $2,365,000

(1)

The contingent consideration is based off achieving certain revenue milestones in each of the next two years. The
Geometric-Brownian motion analysis was used to generate spot prices for use in an option pricing model.  The
hypothetical spot prices were simulated using a monte carlo simulation utilizing 2018 revenue as a base and
revenue volatility of 37%.  The risk-free rate of return and terms utilized were 2.89% and 1.46-2.46, respectively
and expected volatility was 35%.

The following table provides a summary of changes in fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial instruments for
the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Amount
Balance December 31, 2017 $-
Contingent consideration liability recorded as the result of the CareSpeak Communications acquisition
(see note 3) 2,365,000

Balance December 31, 2018 $2,365,000
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are reported at realizable value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, which is estimated and
recorded in the period the related revenue is recorded. The Company has a standardized approach to estimate and
review the collectability of its receivables based on a number of factors, including the period they have been
outstanding. Historical collection and payer reimbursement experience is an integral part of the estimation process
related to allowances for doubtful accounts. In addition, the Company regularly assesses the state of its billing
operations in order to identify issues, which may impact the collectability of these receivables or reserve estimates.
Because the Company’s customers are primarily large well-capitalized companies, historically there has been very
little bad debt expense. Bad debt expense was $0 for each of the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. The
allowance for doubtful accounts was $0 as of both December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are being depreciated over their estimated useful lives of three to five
years for office equipment and three years for computer equipment using the straight-line method of depreciation for
book purposes. Maintenance and repair charges are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost. Finite-lived assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of fifteen to
seventeen years for patents, eight years for customer relationships, four years for covenants not to compete, and three
to four years for software and websites, all using the straight-line method. These assets, as well as our indefinite-lived
asset, are evaluated annually in our fiscal fourth quarter for impairment.

Goodwill

We evaluate goodwill for impairment during our fiscal fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change.
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Revenue Recognition

Recognition of revenue requires evidence of a contact, probable collection of proceeds, and completion of
substantially all performance obligations. We use a 5-step model to recognize revenue. These steps are: identify the
performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract, and recognize revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenues are primarily generated from content delivery activities in which the Company delivers financial clinical, or
brand messaging through a distribution network of ePrescribers and Electronic Health Record technology providers
(channel partners), directly to consumers, or from reselling services that complement the business. Unless otherwise
specified, revenue is recognized based on the gross selling price to customers.

The Company’s contracts are generally all less than one year and the primary performance obligation is delivery of the
message, but the contract may contain additional performance obligations. Additional performance obligations may
include program design and set up, and reporting.

As the messaging is distributed through the platform and network of channel partners (a transaction), these
transactions are recorded, and revenue is recognized, at the time of distribution. Revenue for transactions can be
realized based on a price per message, a price per redemption, or as a flat fee occurring over a period of time,
depending on the client contract. The Company recognizes setup fees that are required for integrating client offerings
and campaigns into the rule-based content delivery system and network over the life of the initial program, based
either on time, or units delivered, depending upon which is most appropriate in the specific situation. Additionally, the
Company also recognizes revenue for providing program performance reporting and maintenance, either by the
Company directly delivering reports or by providing access to its online reporting portal that the client can utilize.
These fees are charged monthly and recognized as recurring monthly revenue at the time of delivery.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In some instances, the Company also resells products and or services that are available through channel partners on a
commission basis, and that are complementary to the core business and client base. In these instances, net revenue is
recognized based on the commission based revenue split that the Company receives. In instances where the Company
resells services and have all financial risk and significant operation input and risk, the Company records the revenue
gross.

Revenue Share Expenses

Based on the volume of transactions that are delivered through the channel partner network, the Company provides a
revenue share to compensate the partner for their promotion of the campaign. Revenue shares are a negotiated
percentage of the transaction fees and can also be specific to special considerations and campaigns. In addition, the
Company pays revenue share to ConnectiveRx (formerly LDM/PDR) as a result of a 2014 legal settlement in an
amount equal to the greater of 10% of financial messaging distribution revenues generated through its integrated
network, or $0.37 per financial message distributed through its integrated network. The contractual amount due to the
channel partners is recorded as an expense at the time the eCoupon is distributed.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred income
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is provided for
the amount of deferred tax assets that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax positions
will be sustained on examination by the tax authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit is
measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. It is the Company’s policy to include interest and penalties related to tax positions as a component of
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income tax expense.

 Concentration of Credit Risks

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in bank deposit accounts, which, at times, may exceed federally
insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts; however, amounts in excess of the
federally insured limit may be at risk if the bank experiences financial difficulties. As of December 31, 2018, the
Company had $8,414,034 in cash balances in excess of federally insured limits, primarily at Bank of America/Merrill
Lynch.

Research and Development

The Company expenses research and development expenses as incurred. Our research efforts are focused on
understanding the market dynamics that have the potential to affect the business and increase revenue in both the short
and long term. Our primary goal is to increase revenue by helping patients better afford and access the medicines their
doctors prescribe, as well as other healthcare products and services they need. Based on this, the Company continually
seeks ways to improve its technology to enhance user experiences, and to develop new services and solutions for its
customers.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Share-based Payments

The Company uses the fair value method to account for stock-based compensation. The fair value of the equity
instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional paid-in capital over the period during which
services are rendered. The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of each grant. For restricted stock, the fair
market value is based on the market value of the stock granted on the date of the grant. For options, it is estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the following table. Estimated
volatilities are based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock over the same period as the expected term of
the options. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be
outstanding. The Company uses historical data to estimate option exercise behavior and to determine this term. The
risk free rate used is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant using a time period equal
to the expected option term. The Company has never paid dividends and does not expect to pay any dividends in the
future.

2018 2017

Expected dividend yield 0 % 0 %
Risk free interest rate 1.96% - 2.84 % 1.47% - 1.81 %
Expected option term 3.5 - 5 years 3.5 - 5 years
Turnover/forfeiture rate 0 % 0 %
Expected volatility 64% - 66 % 65% - 78 %

The Black-Scholes option valuation model and other existing models were developed for use in estimating the fair
value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. These option valuation models
require the input of, and are highly sensitive to, subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility.
The Company’s stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and changes in
the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Loss Per Common and Common Equivalent Share

The computation of basic earnings per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the year. The computation of diluted earnings per common share is based on the basic
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year plus common stock equivalents, which would arise
from the exercise of options and warrants outstanding using the treasury stock method and the average market price
per share during the year. The number of common shares potentially issuable upon the exercise of certain options and
warrants that were excluded from the diluted loss per common share calculation in 2017 was approximately 489,201,
because they are anti-dilutive, as a result of a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The computation of weighted average shares outstanding and the basic and diluted earnings per common share for the
year ended December 31, 2018 consisted of the following:

Net
Income Shares Per Share

Amount
Year ended December 31, 2018:
Basic EPS $226,344 10,832,209 $ 0.02
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 1,030,782

Diluted EPS $226,344 11,862,911 $ 0.02

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate carrying amounts of
long-lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances are present, the Company
assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be
recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the total of the future cash flows is less than the
carrying amount of those assets, the Company recognizes an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying
amount over the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or
the fair value less costs to sell.
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Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

On January 1, 2018, we adopted the new accounting standard ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and
all of the related amendments (“new revenue standard”). We recorded the change, which was immaterial, related to
adopting the new revenue standard using the modified retrospective method. Under this method, we recognized the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings. This results in no restatement of prior periods, which continue to be reported under the accounting standards
in effect for those periods. We expect the impact of the adoption of the new revenue standard to continue to be
immaterial on an ongoing basis.

We have applied the new revenue standard to all contracts as of the date of initial application. The overwhelming
majority of our revenue continues to be recognized when transactions occur, such as the delivery of a message. We
previously recognized revenue related to set-ups when a program launched, and all related activities had been
accomplished. Under the new revenue standard, we are recognizing revenue related to these set ups over the term of
the initial contract. Since set up fees are generally small relative to the size of the overall contract and because most
contracts are for a year or less, the impact of this change is immaterial.

The impact of recording this change as of January 1, 2018 resulted in an increase in deferred revenue of $142,027 at
that date and a corresponding decrease in retained earnings as well. The impact of adopting the new revenue standard
in 2018 resulted in lower revenues of $59,387 than would have been reported under the previous method.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASC 2016-16 amending the accounting for income taxes, primarily related to
intercompany transfers of inventory. We adopted this in 2018 and it had no impact on our financial statements or
disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which modifies lease
accounting for lessees to increase transparency and comparability by recording lease assets and liabilities for operating
leases and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 in its first
quarter of 2019. While the Company is currently evaluating the timing and impact of adopting ASU 2016-02,
currently the Company anticipates no material impact to its Consolidated Statements of Operations.

NOTE 3 – ACQUISITION

On October 17, 2018, we acquired CareSpeak Communications, Inc., a New Jersey corporation and technology
solutions company, which provides digital messaging services to the healthcare industry to expand our service
offerings. Through its cloud based Mobile Health Messenger (“MHM”) Platform, CareSpeak provides interactive health
messaging for improved medication adherence, care coordination, and patient engagement. The total purchase price
was $8,493,451. Acquisition costs of approximately $607,670 were expensed as incurred.

The purchase price contains a contingent element that will be paid only if the Company achieves certain patient
engagement revenues in 2019 and 2020. The total contingent payment may be up to $3.0 million. The calculated fair
value of the contingent payment is $2,365,000 at December 31, 2018.

We began consolidating the results of CareSpeak operations and cashflows into our consolidated financial statements
after October 17, 2018, the date of acquisition. The unaudited Pro forma results of operations as if the acquisition
occurred January 1, 2017 are presented in the following table:
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2018 2017
As Reported Pro Forma As Reported Pro Forma

Net Sales $21,206,363 $22,152,995 $12,127,422 $12,927,881
Net Income (loss) 226,344 690,492 (2,104,029 ) (2,513,029 )
Earnings per common share:
Basic $0.02 $0.06 $(0.21 ) $(0.26 )
Diluted $0.02 $0.06 $(0.21 ) $(0.26 )
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 3 – ACQUISITION (CONTINUED)

Purchase Price Allocation

The purchase price of the acquisition was allocated as follows:

Purchase Price
    Cash paid $5,628,451
    Common stock issued 500,000
    Contingent payment 2,365,000
         Total $8,493,451

Allocation
    Current assets $254,263
    Property and equipment 8,487
    Intangibles
        Goodwill, including assembled workforce in place 3,678,513
        Patent 2,227,000
        Tradename 982,000
        Non-compete agreements 977,000
        Customer relationships 492,000
    Current liabilities assumed (125,812 )
            Total $8,493,451

As described in greater detail in Note 6, the amortizable intangible assets acquired have estimated useful lives ranging
from 4 to 15 years. We determined the estimated fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired primarily by
using the income approach.

NOTE 4 – PREPAID EXPENSES
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Prepaid expenses consisted of the following as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Insurance $43,284 $43,764
Rent 1,589 8,539
EHR access fees 533,125 203,125
Other 12,746 -
Total prepaid expenses $590,744 $255,428
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Company owned equipment recorded at cost which consisted of the following as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Computer equipment $94,384 $83,079
Furniture and fixtures 159,648 158,502
     Subtotal 254,032 241,581
Less accumulated depreciation 104,702 74,276
    Property and equipment, net $149,330 $167,305

Depreciation expense was $58,423 and $48,587 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

NOTE 6 – INTANBIGLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The goodwill is related to the acquisition of CareSpeak Communications in 2018 and is primarily related to expected
improvements and technology performance and functionality, as well sales growth from future product and service
offerings and new customers, together with certain intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition, such
as the assembled workforce in place. Goodwill is generally not amortizable for tax purposes and is not amortizable for
financial statement purposes.

Intangible Assets
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Intangible assets included on the balance sheet consist of the following:

December 31, 2017
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Patent rights $1,102,457 $ 463,691 $638,766
Other intangible assets
    Web-Based Technology 1,458,362 1,314,632 143,730
Total other 1,458,362 1,314,632 143,730
Total Intangibles $2,560,819 $ 1,778,323 $782,496

December 31, 2018

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Weighted
Average
Life
Remaining

Patent rights $3,329,457 $ 562,513 $2,766,944 12.7
Other intangible assets
    Tradename 982,000 - 982,000 Indefinite
    Non-compete agreements 977,000 50,885 926,115 3.8
    Customer relationships 492,000 12,812 479,188 7.8
    Web-based technology 1,515,013 1,410,193 104,820 1.1
Total other 3,966,013 1,473,890 2,492,123
Total Intangibles $7,295,470 $ 2,036,403 $5,259,067
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 6 – INTANBIGLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives.

Patents 15 - 17 years
Non-compete agreements 4 years
Customer relationships 8 years
Web-based technology 3 years

The Company recorded amortization expense $258,079 and $275,964 in the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively. Expected future amortization expenses of the intangibles assets as of December 31, 2018 is as
follows:

Year ended December 31,
2019 $593,682
2020 540,991
2021 536,468
2022 471,222
2023 277,857
Thereafter 1,856,847
Total $4,277,067

NOTE 7 – DEFERRED REVENUE

The Company has several signed contracts with customers for the distribution of financial messaging, or other
services, which include payment in advance. The payments are not recorded as revenue until the revenue is earned
under its revenue recognition policy discussed in Note 2. Deferred revenue was $610,625 and $507,160 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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NOTE 8 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company acquired the technical contributions and assignment of all
exclusive rights to and for a key patent in process at the time from a former CEO in exchange for a total payment in
shares of common stock and options valued at $930,000 at the time, and recorded at that cost. That patent remains in
Patents on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, WPP, plc made a strategic investment in the Company and owned
approximately 20% of the outstanding shares of the Company until December 2018, when it sold the shares. As of
December 31, 2018, WPP is no longer a related party, however the transactions between WPP and the Company are
set forth in the table below. The Company considers the pharmaceutical companies being represented by WPP
agencies to be its customers and it received no preferable pricing from WPP agencies as a result of its related party
status.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 8 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The following table sets forth the activity between the Company and WPP for the years ended December 31:

2018 2017
Total billings to WPP Agencies $6,217,735 $3,554,168
Revenue recognized from WPP Agencies $6,527,051 $3,696,214
Accounts receivable from WPP Agencies $2,051,532 $1,173,614
Rebates given to WPP Agencies $- $33,249
Marketing services purchased from WPP Agencies $- $54,762
Revenue share expense recorded to WPP Agencies $- $401,596
Revenue share expenses owed to WPP Agencies $- $447,670

NOTE 9 – CONTINGENT PURCHASE PRICE

Our purchase of CareSpeak Communications contains a contingent element that will be paid only if the Company
achieves certain patient engagement revenues in 2019 and 2020. The total contingent payment may be up to $3.0
million. The calculated fair value of the contingent payment is $2,365,000 at December 31, 2018. We determined the
fair value of the Contingent Purchase Price Payable using a Geometric-Brownian motion analysis of the expected
revenue and resulting earnout payment using inputs that include the spot price, a risk free rate of return of return of
2.89%, a term of 2.46 years, and volatility of 35%. Changes in the inputs could result in a different fair value
measurement.

NOTE 10 – EQUITY

Preferred Stock
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The Company has 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $.001 par value per share, authorized as of December 31,
2018. No shares were issued or outstanding in either year presented.

Common Stock

The Company had 500,000,000 shares of common stock, $.001 par value per share, authorized as of December 31,
2018. There were 12,038,618 and 9,772,694 shares of common stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively.

Effective May 14, 2018, in connection with our listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, we implemented a reverse split
of our common stock by exchanging each three shares of our common stock for one share. Our financial statements
and all equity transactions have been retroactively adjusted to account for the reverse stock split. We elected to round
fractional shares up to the nearest whole number rather than redeem them for cash, and as a result we issued 908
additional shares as a result of this rounding.

In 2018, we issued 100,000 shares of common stock to a subsidiary of WPP, one of the world’s largest media
companies, and a shareholder at the time, in full payment of all amounts due under a co-marketing agreement that
covered certain WPP agencies, whereby we shared a portion of our revenue with those agencies related to new
programs through those agencies. The shares were valued at $447,000, the market value of the stock on the date of
issuance. The amount due was recorded as a liability in revenue share payable at December 31, 2017.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 10 – EQUITY (CONTINUED)

During 2018, in a private transaction, we issued 1,666,669 shares of our common stock for gross proceeds of
$9,000,000. In connection with this transaction, we incurred equity issuance costs of $835,526 related to payments to
advisors and legal fees associated with the transaction, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $8,164,474.

The Company has a Director Compensation plan covering its independent non-employee Directors. A total of 36,494
and 25,000 shares were granted and issued in the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively in
connection with this compensation plan. These shares were valued at $428,884 and $87,375, respectively. The
Company also awarded 130,001 restricted stock awards, valued at 546,007, to executive officers. These awards would
vest only if the Company achieved certain stretch revenue goals in 2018 or 2019. It was determined that the goal was
achieved as of December 31, 2018, so the entire expense was recognized in 2018, but the shares related to these
awards will be issued in 2019.

During 2018, we issued 15,000 shares of our common stock, valued at $228,050, for investor relations services. We
also issued 30,638 shares of common stock, valued at $500,000, to the former shareholders of CareSpeak
Communications, Inc., in connection with the acquisition of the CareSpeak in 2018.

The entire amount recorded in equity related to stock-based compensation is $1,863,911, including the $1,317,904
discussed in Note 11 below related to options.

During, 2018, we issued 251,046 shares of common stock in connection with the cashless exercise of a warrant to
purchase 348,194 shares. We also issued 165,169 shares of common stock and received proceeds of $521,270 in
connection with the exercise of options in 2018. In 2017 the Company issued 24,214 shares in connection with the
exercise of stock options. The options exercised in 2017 were exercised on a net settled basis and no cash proceeds
were received.
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We adopted the new accounting standard ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as of January 1, 2018,
which resulted in a charge of $142,027 to Retained Earnings on that date.

In 2017, the Company purchased and cancelled 500,000 shares of common stock held by the previous CEO at a price
of $0.78 per share for a total payment of $390,000.

NOTE 11 – STOCK OPTIONS

The Company sponsors a stock-based incentive compensation plan known as the 2013 Equity Compensation Plan (the
“Plan”), which was established by the Board of Directors of the Company in June 2013. A total of 500,000 (post-split)
shares were initially reserved for issuance under the Plan. The Plan was amended in 2016 to increase the authorized
shares to 1,333,334 shares, again in 2018 to increase the authorized shares to 1,833,334, and again in 2019 to increase
the authorized shares to 2,500,000. A total of 1,554,700 shares of common stock underlying options were outstanding
at December 31, 2018. The Company had no remaining shares available to grant under the Plan at December 31,
2018.

The Plan allows the Company to grant incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights,
or restricted stock. The incentive stock options are exercisable for up to ten years, at an option price per share not less
than the fair market value on the date the option is granted. The incentive stock options are limited to persons who are
regular full-time employees of the Company at the date of the grant of the option. Non-qualified options may be
granted to any person, including, but not limited to, employees, independent agents, consultants and attorneys, who
the Company’s Board or Compensation Committee believes have contributed, or will contribute, to the success of the
Company. Non-qualified options may be issued at option prices of less than fair market value on the date of grant and
may be exercisable for up to ten years from date of grant. The option vesting schedule for options granted is
determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors at the time of the grant. The Plan provides for
accelerated vesting of unvested options if there is a change in control, as defined in the Plan.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 11 – STOCK OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The compensation cost that has been charged against income related to options for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, was $1,317,904 and $815,014, respectively. No income tax benefit was recognized in the income
statement and no compensation was capitalized in any of the years presented.

The Company had the following option activity during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Number of
Options

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life (years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value $

Outstanding, January 1, 2017 1,040,022 $ 3.36
Granted – 2017 480,417 $ 2.88
Exercised – 2017 (43,333 ) $ 3.81
Expired – 2017 (108,334 ) $ 4.02
Outstanding, December 31, 2017 1,368,772 $ 3.12 3.2
Granted – 2018 401,099 $ 9.27
Exercised – 2018 (165,169 ) $ 3.16
Expired – 2018 (50,002 ) $ 5.48
Outstanding, December 31, 2018 1,554,700 $ 4.63 3.0 $10,523,497
Exercisable, December 31, 2018 1,041,533 $ 3.34 2.8 $7,928,828

Of the options outstanding at December 31, 2018, 1,041,533 were exercisable with a weighted average contractual life
of 2.8 years and the remaining 513,167 were non-vested.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 11 – STOCK OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The table below shows the expiration date and exercise price of the options outstanding at December 31, 2018.

Number of
Options

Exercise
Price Expiration Date

194,666 $ 2.46 03/31/22
20,000 $ 3.15 03/17/19
18,334 $ 3.15 05/19/19
46,668 $ 3.15 06/24/20
235,604 $ 3.15 07/27/22
500,000 $ 3.21 02/22/21
129,169 $ 3.45 07/28/21
5,167 $ 3.51 11/01/22
28,574 $ 3.66 03/03/19
161,675 $ 4.20 02/01/23
15,003 $ 4.62 03/31/23
10,420 $ 4.71 12/31/22
10,420 $ 10.40 06/30/23
16,000 $ 12.49 08/13/23
6,000 $ 12.51 08/20/23
10,000 $ 12.70 08/22/23
15,000 $ 12.73 09/04/23
125,000 $ 15.40 10/16/23
7,000 $ 16.24 10/22/23

Total1,554,700 $ 4.63

There is $1,433,198 of expense remaining to be recognized related to options outstanding at December 31, 2018.

NOTE 12 –WARRANTS
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The Company has issued warrants to purchase common stock, primarily in connection with capital raising activities.
However, all remaining warrants were exercised in 2018 and there are no remaining warrants outstanding at
December 31, 2018.

The Company had the following warrant activity during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Number of
Shares
Underlying
Warrants

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Outstanding, January 1, 2017 681,527 $ 5.01
Expired (333,333 ) $ 6.75
Balance, December 31, 2017 348,194 $ 3.33
Exercised (348,194 ) $ 3.33
Balance, December 31, 2018 - -

F-22

Edgar Filing: OptimizeRx Corp - Form 10-K

82



OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 13 – MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND VENDORS

The Company had the following customers that accounted for 10% or greater of revenue in either 2018 or 2017. No
other customers accounted for more than 10% of revenue in either year presented.

2018 2017
$ % $ %

Customer A 2,547,113 12.0 957,222 7.9
Customer B 2,280,873 10.8 1,422,072 11.7
Customer C 2,122,657 10.0 1,153,714 9.5

The Company had four key partners through which 10% or greater of its revenue was generated in either 2018 or 2017
as set forth below.

2018 2017
$ % $ % 

Partner A 6,841,386 32.3 3,901,811 32.2
Partner B 5,350,393 25.2 2,047,238 16.9
Partner C 2,584,103 12.2 1,231,662 10.2
Partner D 2,159,356 10.2 1,279,321 10.5

NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $10.9 million that
expire from 2027 through 2037 that are available to offset future taxable income. The Company was formed in 2006
as a limited liability company and changed to a corporation in 2007. Activity prior to incorporation is not reflected in
the Company’s corporate tax returns. In the future, the cumulative net operating loss carry-forward for income tax
purposes may differ from the cumulative financial statement loss due to timing differences between book and tax
reporting.
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In 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act which significantly changed U.S. tax law. The Act lowered the
U.S. statutory federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. This had an affect on the value of
the Company’s net operating loss carryover, but since the deferred tax asset is fully reserved, it had no impact on the
Company’s financial statements. The impact of the change was reflected in the 2017 financial statements.

The provision for Federal income tax consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Federal income tax benefit attributable to:
  Current operations $(48,000) $715,000
  Permanent and timing differences (net) (36,000) (280,000 )
  Tax rate change - (1,600,000)
  Valuation allowance 84,000 1,165,000
      Net provision for federal income tax $- $-
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 14 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The cumulative tax effect of significant items comprising our net deferred tax amount at the expected rate of 21% is as
follows as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018 2017
Deferred tax asset attributable to:
  Net operating loss carryover $2,290,000 $2,551,000
  Depreciation and amortization 119,000 98,000
  Stock compensation 535,000 372,000
  Other (6,000 )
  Valuation allowance (2,938,000) (3,021,000)
      Net deferred tax asset $- $-

Under certain circumstances issuance of common shares can result in an ownership change under Internal Revenue
Code Section 382, which limits the Company’s ability to utilize carry forwards from prior to the ownership change.
Any such ownership change resulting from stock issuances and redemptions could limit the Company’s ability to
utilize any net operating loss carry forwards or credits generated before this change in ownership. These limitations
can limit both the timing of usage of these laws, as well as the loss of the ability to use these net operating losses. It is
likely that fundraising activities have resulted in such an ownership change. 

NOTE 15 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Legal

The Company is not involved in any legal proceedings.

Edgar Filing: OptimizeRx Corp - Form 10-K

85



Revenue-share contracts

The Company has contacts with various Electronic Health Records systems and ePrescribe platforms, whereby we
agree to share a portion of the revenue we generate for eCoupons distributed through their networks. These contracts
grant audit rights related to the payments to our partners, and in some cases would require us to pay for the audit if the
audit determined there was an underpayment and the underpayment meets certain thresholds, such as 10%.

Operating Leases

The Company initially signed the lease for its current office space located in Rochester Michigan on December 1,
2011. That lease expired on November 30, 2016 and the Company signed a new lease for the same space. The current
lease is a three-year lease beginning December 1, 2016, with options for up to an additional 6 years. The rent is
payable monthly at rates of $6,232, $6,308, and $6,384 per month for years 1, 2, and 3 of the lease, respectively. The
monthly rates for the option years range from $6,384 per month to $6,688 per month for the option years 4 through 9
of the lease. If the Company fails to exercise its option for option years 4 and 5, a lease termination payment of $7,300
will be due at the end of the initial 3-year term.
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OPTIMIZERx CORPORATION
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DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE 15 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The Company also has a short-term lease on office space in Somerset, New Jersey expiring March 31, 2018. The lease
is a twelve-month lease calling for twelve monthly payments of $700.

The Company also has a short-term lease on an office space in Zagreb, Croatia expiring July 4, 2018. The lease is a
twelve-month lease calling for twelve monthly payments approximately $630 USD.

The Company also has a month to month leases on shared office spaces in Nashville, Tennessee, payable at a rate of
approximately $2,050 per month.

Minimum annual rent payments are as follows for the remaining term of the leases:

Year ended December 31:
2019 76,104
Total lease commitment $76,104

NOTE 16 – RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) profit sharing plan which was adopted in December 2015,
effective in January 2016. Under the terms of the plan, the Company matches 100% of the first 3% of payroll
contributed by the employee and 50% of the next 2% of payroll contributed by the employee to a maximum of 4% of
an employee’s payroll. There was expense of $172,107 and $137,858 recorded in 2018 and 2017, respectively, for
company contributions to the plan.
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NOTE 17 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In February 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors amended the 2013 Equity Compensation Plan to increase the
number of shares authorized under the plan to 2,500,000. At the same time, the Company granted 50,000 shares of
restricted common stock to officers and options to purchase 67,050 shares of common stock with an exercise price of
$13.06 to non-officers, both of which vest only if the Company achieves certain stretch revenue goals in 2019. In
addition, the Company granted 35,500 time-based options, with the same exercise price, to new employees, as well as
accelerated vesting to 2019 on 100,000 existing options that previously vested in 2020.

In January 2019, the Company signed a new lease on office space in Cranbury New Jersey commencing on February
1, 2019. The lease is a 3-year lease calling for monthly payments ranging from $2,707 to $2,808 plus utilities during
the term of the lease.

In 2019, the company issued 56,493 shares and received proceeds of $228,386 in connection with the exercise of
options.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended) are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in
the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission and to ensure that information required to be
disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and financial officers,
to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. Based  on an evaluation under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company’s management, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer
have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act were not effective as of December 31, 2018 due to the material weaknesses described below.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures
that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions
and the dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness for future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
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inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Based
on this assessment, Management identified the following two material weaknesses:

There was ineffective segregation of duties assignments, and ineffective information technology general controls
(ITGCs) in the areas of user access and change-management over a certain information technology (IT) system, used
in the Company’s financial reporting processes. As a result, business process automated and manual controls that are
dependent on appropriate segregation of duties and are dependent on the affected ITGCs were ineffective because they
could have been adversely impacted.

There were ineffective controls related to revenue including ineffective controls over the review and approval of a key
revenue calculation spreadsheet and ineffective controls over the accuracy and completeness of activity data produced
by the Issuer’s proprietary IT system related to user actions in an electronic environment.  These deficiencies were a
result of a design deficiency in the review and approval process and IT control processes lacking sufficient
documentation.

The material weaknesses did not result in any identified misstatements to the financial statements, and there were no
changes to previously released financial results. Based on these material weaknesses, the Company’s management
concluded that at December 31, 2018, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Sadler Gibb and Associates, LLC, has issued an
adverse audit report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2018, which appears in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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Management’s Remediation Plan

Due to our size, segregation of all conflicting duties has not always been possible and may not be economically
feasible. The Chief Financial Officer has been heavily involved in all accounting functions. In addition, we have used
QuickBooks as our accounting system. QuickBooks lacks sufficient user controls to ensure that timely prevention and
detection of unauthorized use or disposition of Company assets, given the access the CFO has within QuickBooks. In
addition, a significant amount of the calculation of revenue to be recognized is done by the Chief Financial Officer
using spreadsheets and for the majority of the year, the Company lacked sufficient personnel in the accounting
function to adequately review these spreadsheets. To address the issues related to limited personnel, the Company has
historically for years consistently established compensating controls, reviews, and procedures to ensure that the data
generated by the financial and accounting systems is accurate and that the financial statements included herein fairly
present, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.
Based on these procedures, management believes that our consolidated financial statements included in this Form
10-K have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our CEO and CFO have certified that, based on their
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Form 10-K, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the
periods presented in this Form 10-K. Sadler, Gibb & Associates has issued an unqualified opinion on our financial
statements, which is included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

In addition, in 2019, we are making the following improvements to our internal control structure:

1.We have hired an additional person in the finance department, who will be in place by the end of the first quarter.

2. We are investigating new accounting software to replace QuickBooks. Our current goal is to have new
accounting software by the beginning of Q3.

3.We are improving the documentation related to the review procedures that we currently perform that we use to
ensure the accuracy and completeness of the activity data produced by our proprietary IT system.

These changes will allow us to reallocate duties, moving the CFO to a review role related to revenue calculation and
other areas to address the segregation of duties issue. Specifically, starting in January, the Controller now calculates
the revenue to be recognized and that calculation is reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer. The new accounting
software will provide additional user controls to allow timely detection of unauthorized transactions.

We believe these actions will remediate the material weakness. The weakness will not be considered remediated,
however, until the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through

Edgar Filing: OptimizeRx Corp - Form 10-K

91



testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of this material weakness will be
completed prior to the end of fiscal 2019.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the most recently completed fiscal quarter, there has been no material change in our internal control over
financial reporting that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. We did hire a controller in October 2018 as a result of our significant growth. This allowed us to
improve our segregation of duties and document our existing controls better.

Item 9B. Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The following information sets forth the names, ages, and positions of our current directors and executive officers.

Name Age Positions and Offices Held
William J. Febbo 50 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Miriam J. Paramore 56 President
Terence J. Hamilton 53 SVP – Sales
Douglas P. Baker 62 Chief Financial Officer
Gus D. Halas 68 Chairperson and Director
Patrick Spangler 63 Director
Lynn Vos 63 Director
James Lang 54 Director

Set forth below is a brief description of the background and business experience of each of our current executive
officers and directors.

William J. Febbo

Mr. Febbo joined our company as Chief Executive Officer on February 22, 2016. Mr. Febbo brings more than 20
years of experience in building and managing health services and financial businesses. Before joining our company,
Mr. Febbo served as Chairman and Founder of Plexuus, LLC, a payment processing business for medical
professionals. From 2007 to 2015, he worked with Merriman Holdings, Inc., an investment banking firm. There he
served as Chief Operating Officer and assisted with capital raises in the tech, biotech, cleantech, consumer and
resources industries. From 2013 to 2015, he also worked with Digital Capital Network, Inc., which operated a
transaction platform for institutional and accredited investors. There he served as Chief Executive Officer and
Co-Founder and managed the day-to-day operations of the digital portal for institutional level investments. Prior to
Merriman, Mr Febbo was CEO and co-founder of MedPanel, a provider of market intelligence and communications
for the pharmaceutical, biomedical, and medical device industries, which was eventually acquired by MCF
Corporation.
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Aside from that provided above, Mr. Febbo does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Mr. Febbo is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of his wealth of experience in building and
managing health services and financial businesses.

Miriam J. Paramore

Ms. Paramore joined the company as President in August 2017. She has vast experience with healthcare companies,
running businesses ranging from start-ups to large divisions of public and private companies. Her early career was
spent at Ernst & Young, as a Healthcare Management Consultant. She has since occupied executive level and director
positions at several healthcare companies. Most recently, from April 2016 to April 2017, Ms. Paramore served as
COO and CTO of Lucro, Inc., a privately held company located in| Nashville, Tennessee focused on the healthcare
sector. From March 2015 to February 2016, she served as Executive Vice President of PDX a privately held company
in Fort Worth, Texas that provides health information technology for pharmacies. From May 2008 to December 2013,
she served as Executive Vice President of Emdeon, Inc. in Nashville, Tennessee, a health information technology and
tech-enabled services company.

Aside from that provided above, Ms. Paramore does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
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Terence J. Hamilton

Mr. Hamilton joined our company as VP of Sales in February 2008 and became SVP of Sales in 2016. Prior to that,
Mr. Hamilton was Manager at MedImmune from 2005 to 2008 and was Senior National Account Manager for Glaxo
SmithKline pharmaceuticals for 13 years prior to that. Mr. Hamilton has spent the over 25 years working in the
pharmaceutical and biotech arenas within various sales, marketing and managed markets management positions. He
also has held many positions within the pharmaceutical and biotech industries, including District Manager, Brand
Manager, Managed Market Specialist, Contract Manager, and Government Account Manager. Mr. Hamilton was a
Director of the Company from 2008 through March 2016.

Aside from that provided above, Mr. Hamilton does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Gus D. Halas

Mr. Halas joined our company as a Director on August 7, 2014. Mr. Halas has served as CEO of several companies.
He was Chief Executive Officer and President of the Central Operating Companies at Central Garden & Pet Company
from April 2011 through May 2013 and currently serves as a consultant to that Company. Mr. Halas was President
and Chief Executive Officer of T-3 Energy Services, Inc. from May 2003 to March 2009 and also served as Chairman
of the Board of Directors from March 2004 to March 2009. From August 2001 to April 2003, Mr. Halas served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Clore Automotive, Inc. He also serves as a director for Triangle Petroleum
Corp., Hooper Holmes, Inc., School Specialty, Inc., and Madelena Energy.

Aside from that provided above, Mr. Halas does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Mr. Halas is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of his experience and expertise as an executive and a
director with companies implementing “turnaround” strategies.
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Lynn Vos

Ms. Vos has been the President and CEO of the Muscular Distrophy Association since October 2017. Prior to that,
Ms. Vos had been chief executive officer of ghg | greyhealth group since 1994 and is a champion of using digital
capabilities to improve the public health. Ms. Vos also serves on the board of nTelos Wireless, a NASDAQ listed
company, the Jed Foundation, a leading nonprofit dedicated to protecting the emotional health of college students, and
was a founding board member of MMRF, a pioneering cancer research foundation.

Aside from that provided above, Ms. Vos does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Ms. Vos is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of her extensive executive skills in digital marketing
and communications in the healthcare industry.
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James Lang

Mr. Lang joined our Board January 12, 2017. He brings us more than 25 years of experience in healthcare data,
analytic, and technology enabled business services. Mr. Lang is the CEO of Eversana, a leading independent provider
of global commercial services to the life science industry, and also presently serves as an executive advisor to Water
Street, a strategic private equity firm focused exclusively on building market-leading companies in healthcare. In that
capacity, he currently serves as Board Chairman to The Access Group, Health Strategies Group, Alliance Life
Sciences, and Dohmen Life Science Services.  He is also a director of BioVie, a development-stage company
pioneering an innovative therapeutic that targets complications due to liver cirrhosis.

Mr. Lang previously served as CEO of Decision Resources Group, a leading healthcare research and consulting
company providing high-value healthcare industry analysis and insights, where he helped transform the company into
an industry leader. Earlier, he was president of Strategic Decisions Group, a premier global strategy consultancy, and
he expanded the life sciences practice and later sold it to IMS Health. He is an active private investor and advisor with
healthcare companies, including Boston Heart Diagnostics (acquired by Eurofins) and AlphalmpactRx (acquired by
IMS Health).

Aside from that provided above, Mr. Lang does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Mr. Lang is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of his extensive executive skills and background in
the healthcare industry.

Patrick Spangler

Spangler presently serves as CFO of VigiLanz, a digital healthcare intelligence firm, and as a member of the board of
directors of Lifespace Communities. He has more than 30 years of experience in the health care industry, executing
domestic and international growth and exit strategies. He has helped lead high-performance, emerging growth firms,
as well as large publicly-traded companies.
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Earlier, Spangler served as executive vice president and CFO of Healthland, an EHR company serving the critical
access hospital market. He has also served as CFO at the point-of-care medical applications provider, Epocrates, that
he helped bring public in 2011, and which was eventually acquired by Athenahealth. Prior to Epocrates, he was CFO
of the ev3, a vascular therapy that went public in 2005 and then acquired by Covidien, as well as CFO of the medical
device manufacturer, Empi, which was acquired by Encore Medical.

Aside from that provided above, Mr. Spangler does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Mr. Spangler is qualified to serve on our Board of Directors because of his extensive executive skills and background
in the healthcare industry and his finance experience.

Douglas P. Baker

Mr. Baker has served as our CFO since May 19, 2014. Mr. Baker is a Certified Public Account with a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive business experience including 9 years in public accounting with Plante
Moran, 4 years as CFO of a privately held printing company, 5 years in a variety of divisional financial roles at
MascoTech, Inc., a Fortune 500 automotive supplier, and from 1996 to 2014 as Chief Financial Officer of Applied
Nanotech Holdings, Inc., (“APNT”) a publicly held nanotechnology research and licensing company. Mr. Baker was
also a member of the Board of Directors of APNT from 2006 through 2014. He is also currently Chairman of the
Board of Total Health Care, Inc., a Detroit based Health Maintenance Organization and has been a member of that
Board since 1987.

Aside from that provided above, Mr. Baker does not hold and has not held over the past five years any other
directorships in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or
subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act or any company registered as an investment
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
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Directors

Our bylaws authorize no less than three (3) and no more than Seven (7) Directors unless changed by the Board of
Directors. We currently have five (5) Directors.

Term of Office

Our Directors are appointed for a one-year term to hold office until the next annual general meeting of our
shareholders or until removed from office in accordance with our bylaws. Our officers are appointed by our board of
directors and hold office until removed by the board, subject to their respective employment agreements.

Significant Employees

We have no significant employees other than our officers and directors.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between or among the directors, executive officers or persons nominated or chosen
by us to become directors or executive officers.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

During the past 10 years, other than as set forth below, none of our current directors, nominees for directors or current
executive officers has been involved in any legal proceeding identified in Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K, including:

1. Any petition under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency law filed by or against, or a receiver, fiscal
agent or similar officer was appointed by a court for the business or property of such person, or any partnership in
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which he or she was a general partner at or within two years before the time of such filing, or any corporation or
business association of which he or she was an executive officer at or within two years before the time of such filing;

2. Any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being named a subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding
traffic violations and other minor offenses);

3. Being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of
competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining him or her from, or otherwise limiting, the following
activities:

i. Acting as a futures commission merchant, introducing broker, commodity trading advisor, commodity pool
operator, floor broker, leverage transaction merchant, any other person regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission, or an associated person of any of the foregoing, or as an investment adviser, underwriter, broker or
dealer in securities, or as an affiliated person, director or employee of any investment company, bank, savings and
loan association or insurance company, or engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in connection with such
activity;

ii. Engaging in any type of business practice; or

iii. Engaging in any activity in connection with the purchase or sale of any security or commodity or in connection
with any violation of Federal or State securities laws or Federal commodities laws;
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4. Being subject to any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any Federal or
State authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting for more than 60 days the right of such person to engage in
any type of business regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, securities, investment, insurance or
banking activities, or to be associated with persons engaged in any such activity;

5. Being found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the SEC to have violated any Federal or
State securities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the Commission has not been subsequently
reversed, suspended, or vacated;

6. Being found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated any Federal commodities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission has not been subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated;

7. Being subject to, or a party to, any Federal or State judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree, or finding,
not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to an alleged violation of:

i. Any Federal or State securities or commodities law or regulation; or

ii. Any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies including, but not limited to, a
temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or
permanent cease-and-desist order, or removal or prohibition order; or

iii. Any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

8. Being subject to, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any
self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(26))), any
registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 1(a)(29))), or any
equivalent exchange, association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or persons
associated with a member.
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On January 29, 2018, FINRA accepted a Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (No. 2015044865501) (the
Consent) submitted by William Febbo. From August 2012 to October 2015, Mr. Febbo was the Financial and
Operations Principal (FinOp) for a registered broker-dealer, Merriman Capital, Inc. (Merriman). During certain
months while Mr. Febbo was FINOP, FINRA found that certain of Merriman’s net capital filings with FINRA were
inaccurate because of the method by which Merriman calculated net capital and that, when corrected, it was
retroactively determined that Merriman had operated below its minimum net capital requirements. Febbo, as FinOp,
signed certain of these reports and was thus held responsible. Based on the Consent, in settlement, Mr. Febbo, who
was then no longer registered with any broker-dealer, accepted a fine of $5,000 and a 10-business day suspension
from acting as FinOp for any FINRA member.

Director Independence

The Board of Directors reviews the independence of our directors on the basis of standards adopted by the Nasdaq
Stock Market (“Nasdaq”). As a part of this review, the Board of Directors considers transactions and relationships
between our company, on the one hand, and each director, members of the director’s immediate family, and other
entities with which the director is affiliated, on the other hand. The purpose of such a review is to determine which, if
any, of such transactions or relationships were inconsistent with a determination that the director is independent under
Nasdaq rules. As a result of this review, the Board of Directors has determined that each of our directors other than
Mr. Febbo is an “independent director” within the meaning of applicable Nasdaq listing standards.
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Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors has three standing committees to facilitate and assist the Board of Directors in the execution of
its responsibilities: (1) Nominating and Governance Committee; (2) Audit Committee and (3) Compensation
Committee. Each committee acts pursuant to a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. Each committee’s
charter is available on our corporate website at http://www.optimizerx.com. (The information contained in our website
is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.) All of the committees are comprised solely of
non-employee, independent directors as defined by Nasdaq market listing standards.

Nominating and Governance Committee

The Board of Directors has established a Nominating and Governance Committee. In 2018, the Committee was
composed of Directors, Archambault, Spangler, and Vos, and is chaired by Director Vos. Director Archambault
resigned in December 2018 and is no longer a Director. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee held 4
meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. In 2019, the committee members are Directors Vos (Chair),
Lang, and Halas. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s responsibilities, which are discussed in
detail in its charter, include the responsibility to:

● Develop qualifications and criteria for selecting and evaluating directors and nominees;
● Consider and propose director nominees;

● Make recommendations to the Board regarding Board compensation;
● Make recommendations to the Board regarding Board committee memberships;

● Develop and recommend to the Board corporate governance guidelines;
● Facilitate an annual assessment of the performance of the Board and each of its standing committees;

● Consider the independence of each director and nominee for director; and
● Perform other functions or duties deemed appropriate by the Board.

Compensation Committee

The Board of Directors has established a Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee held 4 meetings
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, and held other informal discussions as needed. The Committee is
composed of Directors, Halas, Spangler, and Lang, and is chaired by Director Lang. The Compensation Committee’s
responsibilities, which are discussed in detail in its charter, include the responsibility to:
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●In consultation with our senior management, establish our general compensation philosophy and oversee the
development and implementation of our compensation programs;

●
Recommend the base salary, incentive compensation and any other compensation for our Chief Executive Officer to
the Board of Directors and review and approve the Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations for the compensation
of all other officers of our company and its subsidiary;

●Administer our incentive and stock-based compensation plans, and discharge the duties imposed on the Compensation
Committee by the terms of those plans;

●Review and approve any severance or termination payments proposed to be made to any current or former officer of
our company; and

● Perform other functions or duties deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in March 2018 and in 2018 was comprised of Directors Archambault, Spangler
and Vos, and is chaired by Director Spangler. Director Archambault resigned in December 2018 and is no longer a
Director. The Audit Committee held four meetings during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and held informal
discussions as necessary. In 2019, the committee members are Directors Spangler (Chair), Vos, and Halas.

The Audit Committee approves the selection of our independent accountants and meets and interacts with the
independent accountants to discuss issues related to financial reporting. In addition, the Audit Committee reviews the
scope and results of the audit with the independent accountants, reviews with management and the independent
accountants our annual operating results, considers the adequacy of our internal accounting procedures and considers
other auditing and accounting matters including fees to be paid to the independent auditor and the performance of the
independent auditor.
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For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, the Audit Committee:

1. Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management, and

2.Reviewed and discussed the written disclosures and the letter from our independent auditors on the matters relating
to the auditor's independence.

Based upon the Audit Committee’s review and discussion of the matters above, the board of directors authorized
inclusion of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 to be included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee qualifies as an audit committee financial expert
as defined under applicable SEC rules and also meets the additional criteria for independence of audit committee
members set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers and persons who beneficially own
more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common stock and other equity securities of the Company.
Officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial shareholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us
with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. To the best of our knowledge based solely on a review of Forms 3, 4,
and 5 (and any amendments thereof) received by us, no persons have failed to file, on a timely basis, the identified
reports required by Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, other than as set
forth in the following information. Director Lang filed a Form 4 two days late due to issues with his SEC filing codes.

Code of Ethics

In October 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a Code of Ethics for the Company, which was attached to our 2017
Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibit 14.1.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The table below summarizes all compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to our former or current executive
officers for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Name and principal
position Year Salary

($)
Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

William J. Febbo (1) 2018 275,000 294,838 336,000 - 17,300 923,138
CEO, Director 2017 250,000 156,937 - - 14,968 421,905
Miriam Paramore (2) 2018 232,500 131,781 70,000 - 11,000 445,281
President 2017 91,667 46,036 - 329,950 24,786 492,430
Terence J. Hamilton (3) 2018 210,000 219,028 70,000 - 12,604 511,632
SVP of Sales 2017 200,000 100,440 - 89,380 10,412 400,232
Douglas P. Baker (4) 2018 220,000 124,696 70,000 - 11,000 425,696
CFO 2017 200,000 95,330 - 134,070 9,794 439,194

Narrative Disclosure to the Summary Compensation Table

(1)

Amounts reflected in All Other Compensation column for Mr. Febbo in 2018 is composed of $11,000 employer
matching contributions to the Company’s retirement plan, $4,000 for a term life policy, and $2,300 for legal fees.
The 2017 amounts are $10,800 employer matching contributions to the Company’s retirement plan and the balance
for legal fees.

(2)

Amount reflected in All Other Compensation for Ms. Paramore for 2017 reflects $2,200 of employer matching
contributions to the Company’s retirement plan and $22,586 paid to her as a consultant prior to her starting
employment for the Company. The 2018 amount represents employer matching contributions to the Company’s
retirement plan.

(3)
Amounts reflected in All Other Compensation column for Mr. Hamilton in 2018 is $11,000 employer matching
contributions to the Company’s retirement plan and $1,604 of other miscellaneous benefits. The 2017 amount
represents employer matching contributions to the Company’s retirement plan.

(4)Amounts reflected in All Other Compensation column for Mr. Baker in both years represents employer matching
contributions to the Company’s retirement plan.

Mr. Febbo joined the Company as CEO on February 22, 2016. On September 10, 2018 Mr. Febbo signed a new
employment agreement calling for a base salary of $275,000 in 2018 and $300,000 in 2019. In addition, he is eligible
to participate in the Company’s executive bonus plan with a target bonus of 50% of his annual salary. In February
2019, the Board of Directors approved a special discretionary bonus of $100,000 to Mr. Febbo for his performance in
2018 and increased his target bonus to 60% of his annual salary for 2019. He is also eligible for vacation, sick days,
insurance, to participate in the Company’s 401k plan, and other benefits covering all employees. Mr. Febbo’s contract
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also calls for him to be reimbursed $4,000 per year for a separate term life insurance policy. Mr. Febbo’s contract calls
for 12 months of severance if he is terminated without cause.

In February 2018, the Board of Directors agreed to accelerate vesting on 100,000 of Mr. Febbo’s options that were
originally scheduled to vest on the fifth anniversary of his contract in 2021, by three years, to vest in February 2018.
In February 2019, the Board of Directors agreed to accelerate the vesting of the remaining 100,000 unvested options
held by Mr. Febbo from February 2020 to February 2019.

The Company also granted to Mr. Febbo 80,000 shares of restricted common stock in February 2018 that vest if the
Company achieved targeted stretch revenue goals in either 2018 or 2019. The Company achieved those targeted
revenues in 2018, so the shares vested. In February 2019, the Board of Directors also granted Mr. Febbo an additional
30,000 shares of restricted common stock if the Company achieves certain targeted stretch revenue goals in 2019.
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Ms. Paramore joined the Company as President on August 1, 2017. On September 10, 2018 Ms. Paramore signed a
new employment agreement calling for a base salary of $250,000. In addition, she is eligible to participate in the
Company’s executive bonus plan with a target bonus of 40% of her annual salary. She is also eligible for vacation, sick
days, insurance, to participate in the Company’s 401k plan, and other benefits covering all employees. Ms. Paramore’s
contract also calls for 12 months of severance if she is terminated without cause.

Under the terms of her contract, in 2017, the Company also granted to Ms. Paramore an option to purchase 166,667
shares of common stock, exercisable at a price of $3.15 per share, and vesting annually over a period of 5 years. Ms.
Paramore was also granted 16,667 shares of restricted common stock in February 2018 that vest if the Company
achieved targeted stretch revenue goals in either 2018 or 2019. The Company achieved those targeted revenues in
2018, so the shares vested. In February 2019, the Board of Directors also granted Ms. Paramore an additional 10,000
shares of restricted common stock if the Company achieves certain targeted stretch revenue goals in 2019.

On September 10, 2018, Mr. Hamilton’s signed a new employment agreement calling for a base salary of $210,000. In
addition, he is eligible to participate in the Company’s executive bonus plan with a target bonus of 40% of his annual
salary. He is also eligible for vacation, sick days, insurance, to participate in the Company’s 401k plan, and other
benefits covering all employees. Mr. Hamilton’s contract also calls for 12 months of severance if he is terminated
without cause. In February 2019, Mr. Hamilton signed an amended employment agreement increasing his base salary
to $230,000 for 2019

For 2018, Mr. Hamilton also had the opportunity to earn up to $100,000 of additional bonus in excess of the targeted
amount, in increments of $20,000, if the Company exceeded its revenue targets by certain predefined milestones. The
Company exceeded those milestones, so Mr. Hamilton was awarded the full $100,000 special bonus for 2018. In
February 2019 Mr. Hamilton was granted to the opportunity to earn an additional $100,000 bonus in 2019 in
increments of $20,000 if the Company achieves certain stretch revenue goals. Mr. Hamilton was also granted 16,667
shares of restricted stock in February 2018 that vested if the Company achieves targeted stretch revenue goals in either
2018 or 2019. The Company achieved those targeted revenues in 2018, so the shares vested.

On September 10, 2018, Mr. Baker signed a new employment agreement calling for a base salary of $220,000. In
addition, he is eligible to participate in the Company’s executive bonus plan with a target bonus of 40% of his annual
salary. He is also eligible for vacation, sick days, insurance, to participate in the Company’s 401k plan, and other
benefits covering all employees. Mr. Baker’s contract calls for 12 months of severance if he is terminated without
cause. In February 2019, Mr. Baker signed an amended employment agreement increasing his base salary to $240,000
for 2019.

Mr. Baker was also granted 16,667 shares of restricted common stock in February 2018 that vests if the Company
achieves targeted stretch revenue goals in either 2018 or 2019. The Company achieved those targeted revenues in
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2018, so the shares vested. In February 2019, the Board of Directors also granted Mr. Baker an additional 10,000
shares of restricted common stock if the Company achieves certain targeted stretch revenue goals in 2019.

For all four executive officers, the executive bonus plan contains a provision whereby each officer could receive a
bonus ranging from $0 to $750,000 if a change of control transaction occurs in 2019, depending up on the transaction
price.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The table below summarizes all unexercised options, stock that has not vested, and equity incentive plan awards for
each named executive officers as of December 31, 2018.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration Date

Number
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Market
Value
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market
or
Payout
Value
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Will Febbo 300,000 200,000 $ 3.21 02/21/21
Miriam
Paramore 33,334 133,333 $ 3.15 07/27/22

Douglas
Baker 18,334 - $ 3.15 05/19/19

33,334 - $ 3.15 06/24/20
100,001 - $ 2.46 03/31/22

Terry
Hamilton 66,667 - $ 3.45 07/28/21

66,667 - $ 2.46 03/31/22

Director Compensation

The table below summarizes all compensation of our directors as of December 31, 2018:
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Name

Fees
Earned
or Paid
in Cash
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

Option
Awards
($)

All Other
Compensation
($)

Total
($)

Gus D. Halas 40,625 90,278       -       - 130,903
James Lang 30,000 90,278 - - 120,278
Jack Pinney 25,875 87,034 - - 112,909
Patrick Spangler 25,125 80,650 - - 105,775
Lynn Vos 22,500 80,650 - - 103,150
Brian Archambault - - - - -
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Narrative Disclosure to the Director Compensation Table

Pursuant to our Director Compensation Plan, independent directors (“Outside Directors”) shall receive (a) annual cash
retainer for Board and Committee service as set forth in the table below, payable in equal quarterly installments, and
(b) reimbursement for expenses related to Board meeting attendance and any committee participation.

Annual
Fee ($)

Basic Director Fee 25,000
Board Chair 12,500
Audit Committee Chair 5,000
Audit Committee Member 2,500
Compensation Committee Chair 5,000
Compensation Committee Member 2,500
Nominating and Governance Chair 2,500
Nominating and Governance Committee Member 1,000

Directors are expected to attend four meetings per year as well as spend an additional 10 – 20 hours per month on
company matters. In addition, Outside Directors shall also receive 25,000 shares of Common Stock, payable in equal
quarterly installments, which shall vest immediately. Directors that are also employees of our company shall not
receive additional compensation for serving on the Board. Both the cash retainer and stock awards are prorated for
partial quarters of service when a new Director joins the Board.

Director Bryan Archambault was the designated WPP director and as such was compensated by WPP for Board
Service. Director Archambault resigned in December 2018 in connection with WPP’s sale of its ownership position in
the Company.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership by each person, other than executive officers and directors,
known to us to beneficially own 5% or more of our outstanding common stock as of March 7, 2019. This information
is based on public filings as of March 7, 2019. For the purposes of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, beneficial
ownership of securities is defined in accordance with the rules of the SEC to mean generally the power to vote or
dispose of securities, regardless of any economic interest therein, including any such security that the person has the
right to acquire within 60 days after such date.

More Than 5% Beneficial Owners: Name and Address
Common
Shares
Owned

Percentage
of Class

Common
AWM Investment(1)
527 Madison Ave. Suite 2600
New York, NY 10022

1,367,925 11.4 %

Common

Wolverine Flagship Fund

Trading Limited(2)

175 W Jackson Blvd, 3rd Flr
Chicago, IL 60604

755,821 6.3 %

Common

Harvey L. Poppel(3)

110 El Mirasol

Palm Beach, FL 33480

994,898 8.3 %

Common

Park West Asset Management(6)
900 Larkspur Landing Circle
Suite 160
Larkspur, CA 94939

967,448 8.1 %

Common

Ronald L. Chez(4)

55 East Monroe Street, Suite 3700

Chicago, IL 60603

907,325 7.5 %

Common

Goldman Capital Management(5)

767 Third Avenue, 25th Floor

New York, NY 10017

510,798 4.2 %
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(1) As stated in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13, 2019.
(2) As stated in a Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 20, 2018.

(3) As stated in a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 10, 2019.
(4) As stated in a Schedule 13D/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 27, 2015.
(5) As stated in a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2014.

(6) As stated in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2019.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT

Set forth below is certain information with respect to beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 7, 2019,
by each director, each executive officer, and by the directors and executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise
indicated, each person or member of the group listed has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares
of common stock listed.

Name(1)

Options
Included

in
Beneficial

Ownership
(2)

Restricted

Stock

Awards
(3)

Common

Shares

Owned

Common
Stock

Beneficial

Ownership

Percentage

of Class

William J. Febbo 500,000 80,000 18,267 598,267 4.8 %
Miriam Paramore 33,334 16,667 7,412 57,413 *
Terence J. Hamilton 133,334 16,667 124,804 276,805 2.3 %
Lynn Vos - 15,302 15,302 *
Douglas P. Baker 146,669 16,667 31,884 195,220 1.6 %
Gus D. Halas - 45,924 45,924 *
Patrick Spangler - 6,347 6,347 *
James Lang - 16,672 16,672 *
All Executive Officers and Directors as a group (8
persons) 818,337 130,001 268,6112 1,211,950 9.4 %

* Less than 1%

(1)The address of each person named in this table is c/o OptimizeRx Corp., 400 Water Street, Suite 200, Rochester,
MI 48307.

(2) This column lists shares that are subject to options exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 7, 2019,
and are included in common stock beneficial ownership pursuant to Rule 13d-3(d)(1) of the Exchange Act.

(3)This column lists shares resulting from restricted stock awards that have vested as of March 7, 2019, but for which
shares have not been issued.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
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Other than described below or the transactions described under the heading “Executive Compensation” (or with respect
to which such information is omitted in accordance with SEC regulations), there have not been, and there is not
currently proposed, any transaction or series of similar transactions to which we were or will be a participant in which
the amount involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at
year-end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which any director, executive officer, holder of 5% or more of
any class of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will have
a direct or indirect material interest.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, WPP made a strategic investment in the Company and was a shareholder
that owns approximately 20% of the shares of the Company at the time. WPP sold its entire ownership position in
December 2018, and is no longer a shareholder of the Company.
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The following table sets forth the activity between the Company and WPP in 2018 and 2017.

2018 2017
Total billings to WPP Agencies $6,217,735 $3,554,168
Revenue recognized from WPP Agencies $6,527,051 $3,696,214
Accounts receivable from WPP Agencies $2,051,532 $1,173,614
Rebates given to WPP Agencies $- $33,249
Marketing services purchased from WPP Agencies $- $54,762
Revenue share expense recorded to WPP Agencies $- $401,596
Revenue share expenses owed to WPP Agencies $- $447,670

On May 9, 2016, we entered into a Corporate Consulting Agreement with our former CEO, David Harrell that set
forth the terms of his continued relationship with the company and went effective as of June 1, 2016. Under the terms
of this agreement Mr. Harrell agreed to consult for our company for a period of 16 months and he received a monthly
payment of $15,000, with the potential for up to $54,000 in additional bonus payments during the term of the
agreement. This agreement also called for insurance benefits for seven months. Finally, the agreement contained a
Consultant Confidentiality, Invention Assignment and Non-Compete Agreement that contains restrictive covenants
that include a one year non-compete following the completion of Mr. Harrell’s period of consulting, and an inventions
assignment clause during the term of his consulting relationship.

On May 11, 2017, we entered into a Separation and Stock Purchase Agreement with Mr. Harrell pursuant to which we
agreed to repurchase from Mr. Harrell 166,667 shares of our common stock for aggregate consideration of $390,000,
representing a purchase price of $2.34 per share.

Also under the agreement, we agreed that the consulting agreement with Mr. Harrell would terminate on July 31,
2017, but that his non-compete agreement with us shall extend to July 31, 2019. The agreement also stipulated that
Mr. Harrell would resign as a member of our board of directors effective June 30, 2017.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Below are tables of Audit Fees (amounts in US$) billed by our auditors in connection with the audit of the Company’s
annual financial statements and review of the quarterly financial statements for the years ended:

KLJ & Associates, LLP
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Financial Statements for the
Year Ended December 31

Audit
Services

Audit
Related
Fees

Tax
Fees

Other
Fees

2018 $ - $10,500 $- $         -
2017 $ 31,000 $- $3,000 $-

Sadler Gibb & Associates

Financial Statements for the
Year Ended December 31

Audit
Services

Audit
Related
Fees

Tax
Fees

Other
Fees

2018 $116,430 $14,220 $         - $         -
2017 $20,000 $- $- $-
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements Schedules

(a)Financial Statements and Schedules

The following financial statements and schedules listed below are included in this Form 10-K.

Financial Statements (See Item 8)

(b)  Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of OptimizeRx Corporation (the “Company”)1

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company2

3.3 Certificate of Designation, filed on September 5, 2008 with the Secretary of State of the State of
Nevada by the Company1

3.4 Certificate of Designation, filed on June 3, 2010 with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada by
the Company3

3.5** Certificate of Correction, dated April 30, 2018
3.6** Certificate of Withdrawal of Certificate of Designation, dated May 10, 2018

10.1 Separation Agreement, Corporate Consulting Agreement and Confidentiality Agreement between the
Company and David Harrell dated May 5, 20164

10.2 Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan5

10.3 Amendment to Employment Agreement with Miriam Paramore, dated September 10, 20186

10.4 Purchase Agreement, dated May 2, 20187

10.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 2, 20187

10.6 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 20188

10.7 Amendment to Employment Agreement with Terry Hamilton, dated February 7, 20199

10.8 Amendment to Employment Agreement with Doug Baker, dated February 7, 20199

10.9 Amendment to Employment Agreement with William Febbo, dated February 25, 201910

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics11

21.1** List of Subsidiaries
23.1** Consent of Sadler, Gibb & Associates, LLC**

31.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a),
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101** The following materials from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016 formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL).

1
Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 12, 2008.

2
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
July 16, 2010.

3
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 11, 2010.

4
Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q, filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 9, 2016.

5
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 31, 2016.

6
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 14, 2018.

7
Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 2, 2018.

8
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 17, 2018.

9
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 7, 2019.

10
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 26, 2019.

11
Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 8, 2018.

**provided herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

OptimizeRx Corporation

By:/s/ William J. Febbo
William Febbo
Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer
March 12, 2019

By: /s/ Douglas P. Baker 
Douglas P. Baker

Title:Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer
Date:March 12, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: /s/ William J. Febbo
William J. Febbo

Title:Director
Date:March 12, 2019

By: /s/ James Lang
James Lang

Title:Director
Date:March 12, 2019

By: /s/ Gus D. Halas
Gus D. Halas

Title:Chairman and Director
Date:March 12, 2019
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By: /s/ Patrick Spangler
Patrick Spangler

Title:Director
Date:March 12, 2019

By: /s/ Lynn Vos
Lynn Vos

Title:Director
Date:March 12, 2019
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